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 The joint committee met in private session until 9.21 a.m. 

Business of Joint Committee

Chairman: With regard to a meeting we are proposing to have on the Royal College of 
Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, RCOG, review, we have received a letter from the Secretary 
General of the Department of Health, Mr. Jim Breslin, to say that they would be available to 
meet the committee on 17 or 18 December.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: The Dáil is not sitting then.

Chairman: Does Deputy Kelly have some comment on that?

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I have a deep concern about the RCOG review, which I have flagged 
this numerous times.  I flagged it on the day of the apology to the women in the Dáil.  I told the 
Minister and the Taoiseach that they had to get it right.  My concern on this has been public for 
some time.  I am very concerned about this letter.  I believe that the timelines associated with 
it are worrying.  It is concerning that they want to bring it in here on the final sitting day of the 
Parliament and release the information at that time.

The letter presents inherent issues.   All the individual reports are completed.  All of the 
RCOG reports are done.  The letter also says that the aggregate report is now being completed.  
All the work is done.  This was meant to be done by last May, then it was supposed to be done 
by September and then it was meant to be done by October.  It is now done.  The letter states:

As individual reports were transferred from RCOG to the HSE, the HSE undertook a 
detailed verification process to ensure that each report was provided to the right partici-
pant.  This was necessary given that slides and records were identified by number only 
during the analysis undertaken by RCOG, to protect the privacy of women and next of 
kin.

Is that not inherently contradictory?  The individual reports “were transferred from RCOG 
to the HSE”.  As the reports came back, they went through a filtration verification process.  
I know all about this process and we will talk about it whenever we have an opportunity to 
the HSE.  When the files were transferred with RCOG, they were given a reference number 
to protect the privacy of the women and next of kin, yet, when the files came back through 
the HSE, the privacy for next of kin does not seem to have mattered.  How can one have an 
independent review that has been verified?  How can one have an independent review that is 
anonymous and is then verified by the HSE?  Trust me, we are going to get into that detail.  
That is deeply worrying.

The issue is that the Department is saying it will not bring this forward, even though all the 
work is done, because all the women need to be communicated with.  If the process of verifi-
cation was so necessary and accurate, then what is the issue?  The reports have been done for 
some time.  Why is it taking so long?  If the HSE needed to be instrumental in communicating 
this, and breaking its own rules with regard to privacy, why did it need to use couriers in some 
cases to find people?  Why is there such a delay?  Why are we being fobbed off?  I have a deep 
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concern over this and over the timelines.  The Minister for Health keeps on saying it is coming, 
and I respect the nuances of what he is saying, but it is being pushed out and I am concerned as 
to why it is being pushed out.  This report is proposed to be brought in to the committee on 18 
December or 19 December and then to be released publicly at Christmas time, when scrutiny 
would not be at the same level it should be for such a serious issue.  This is not the way to do 
business.

Chairman: The committee will carry out scrutiny of this report.  If it takes more than one 
session, we will certainly do that.  We are at the mercy of the Department and RCOG regarding 
when they can come to give evidence.  When the representatives come to the committee, we 
will give them every opportunity, and members will have every opportunity to interrogate the 
report.  If we do not get satisfaction on the first day, we can have whatever number of meet-
ings is required to examine this report.  The Deputy will be aware that we have invited them on 
a number of occasions to examine this report and we had earmarked 4 December, and then it 
moved to 18 December.  We will have them in on 18 December and we will have them in at a 
subsequent meeting if we need to.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I have a lot of information relating to this but, with the permission of 
the committee, can we tentatively pencil in 18 December?  We do not know when the Minister 
will release this information.  We do not know when the report will be brought forward.  If this 
report is brought forward earlier than 18 December, we may have to hold an ad hoc meeting, 
with the co-operation of the members.  If the report is released between now and 18 December, 
we could leave that open, with the permission of the committee.

Chairman: We will also have the Minister before the committee on 11 December.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Yes.  If it is okay with the committee should the report be released 
between now and then, and if we have other committee meetings on it, we could do a phase two 
or have another ad hoc meeting.  As long as we can leave that open, we could proceed with the 
18 December.  On 18 December we should also leave open the possibility of a session with the 
221+ campaign group as well as the Department, the Minister and the CervicalCheck team.  Is 
that okay?

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I agree with all of that.  There are some very odd things hap-
pening in the background and being done quietly with regard to some of the women who have 
been affected.  These are women who were not in the 221+ patient group, and who clearly 
should have been.  On the back of the RCOG review, they are quietly being invited in.  It is the 
kind of information that might get missed in a session only with officials.  It is essential that we 
have the patient voice in the room.  It may be at a separate session on the same day, or perhaps 
prior to of the session with the officials.  It is essential that we hear from the women themselves.  
It is about the 221+ group but the RCOG review was for an additional group of women.  They 
do not have a formal representative group but we might do a bit of thinking about how we can 
make sure their voices are heard here too.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I am aware of what the Deputy is referring to, and I agree with him.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: There are some funny things going on in the background that 
are being done quietly that would not necessarily percolate through unless we are hearing from 
the right women.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: I agree wholeheartedly with that.  We may need to broaden it.  It 
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will be tough because there may not be a representative group.  It could be possible for the com-
mittee to get the information we need by some other means.  Perhaps the committee could get 
a submission.  I am not sure how we could do it and it might prove to be tough to do.  Without 
going into the detail, clearly there is an issue that the committee needs to explore.  We need to 
be open minded about how we get that information.  It is a broader issue than the 221+ group.  
There are other issues there and perhaps we could take some advice on how we might get that 
information.  It could be through a submission.  I honestly do not know.  There may be a case 
to be made for considering an alternative to inviting people in.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That is a good idea.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: We also need to keep open the idea of having a meeting outside 
of our normal schedule, perhaps during the evening when this space would be free.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I would like to clarify that we are talking about three groups.  The first 
group comprises the patient representatives who were selected to be on the steering group as 
part of the RCOG review.  That is one group.  We know who they are.  Obviously, they should 
be invited.  They know the most about all of this because they are intricately involved in it.  The 
second group is the 221+ umbrella group, which we all know about.  The third group, which has 
just been mentioned by my two colleagues, comprises the other women who have been part of 
this process but are outside of the other two groups.  I have spoken to many of them as well as 
the lads.  In the coming weeks, we need to tease out how we can bring them in.  There are three 
different groups.  I certainly think that patient representatives are a core group.  When we bring 
in the team from the HSE and the Department, we should bring in the patient representatives 
for a separate session on the same day.

Chairman: Okay.  Is that agreed?

Deputy  Alan Kelly: If we are looking at a second meeting or a second phase of this pro-
cess, I would love to hear Dr. Scally’s view on the RCOG review after it has been published.

Chairman: I thank the Deputy.  I am sure Dr. Scally has a view.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I am sure he has.  We might be on the same page.

Chairman: Is that agreed?

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I thank the committee for its indulgence.

Chairman: That is our schedule of meetings until the end of the year as best we can man-
age it.  If there are no other issues that members wish to raise, we will begin the first session of 
today’s meeting.  We will suspend for a few moments to allow our witnesses to take their seats.

Sitting suspended at 9.32 a.m. and resumed at 9.34 a.m.

Working Group on Access to Contraception: Discussion

Chairman: During our first session this morning, the committee will consider the report of 
the Working Group on Access to Contraception.  We are joined by Mr. Andrew Conlon, who is 
the chair of the working group; Ms Kate O’Flaherty, who is the head of health and well-being 
in the Department of Health; Ms Maeve O’Brien, who is the acting programme head of the HSE 



27 NOVEMBER 2019

5

sexual health and crisis pregnancy programme; Dr. Caitriona Henchion, who is the medical 
director of the Irish Family Planning Association; and Dr. Mary Short, who is the director of 
women’s health in the Irish College of General Practitioners and the president of the European 
Society of Contraception and Reproductive Health.

I would like to draw the attention of witnesses to the fact that by virtue of section 17(2)(l) of 
the Defamation Act 2009, they are protected by absolute privilege in respect of their evidence 
to this committee.  However, if they are directed by the committee to cease giving evidence on 
a particular matter and they continue to so do, they are entitled thereafter only to a qualified 
privilege in respect of their evidence.  They are directed that only evidence connected with the 
subject matter of these proceedings is to be given.  They are asked to respect the parliamentary 
practice to the effect that, where possible, they should not criticise or make charges against 
any person, persons or entity by name or in such a way as to make him, her or it identifiable.  I 
advise witnesses that any opening statements they make may be published on the committee’s 
website after the meeting.  Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice 
to the effect that they should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside 
the Houses or an official either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.

I ask Mr. Conlon to make his opening statement.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: I thank the Chairman and members of the committee for the invita-
tion to discuss the report of the Working Group on Access to Contraception.  As the Chairman 
has noted, I am joined by Ms Kate O’Flaherty, who is head of health and well-being in the 
Department of Health; and Ms Maeve O’Brien, who is the acting programme head of the HSE 
sexual health and crisis pregnancy programme.  I intend to outline briefly the background and 
context to the group’s work before highlighting some of the key findings of the report and pos-
sible policy options the committee may wish to consider.

The Minister established the working group in April 2019 to consider the range of policy, 
regulatory and legislative issues that arise as he seeks to improve access to contraception.  The 
establishment of the group was primarily a response to the ancillary recommendation of the 
Joint Committee on the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution that “a scheme for the provi-
sion of the most effective method of contraception, free of charge and having regard to personal 
circumstances, to all people who wish to avail of them within the State” should be introduced.  
It also reflected the commitment of the Minister and the Department to improving women’s 
experience of healthcare in Ireland.  It should be seen in the wider context of the establishment 
of the women’s health task force and the work the Department is currently undertaking.

The working group comprised officials from relevant policy areas within the Department, 
including the Office of the Chief Medical Officer and the community pharmacy, bioethics, re-
search, health and well-being, eligibility and primary care units.  I emphasise that this was not 
a closed departmental exercise.  Consultation was an intrinsic part of the group’s work.  More 
than 5,000 responses were received in response to a public consultation exercise.  Approxi-
mately 3,500 of these submissions were fully completed.  The group directly met several key 
stakeholders, including the Irish College of General Practitioners and Irish Family Planning As-
sociation.  I would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone who engaged with the work 
of the group, especially the stakeholders who met us or submitted detailed submissions to us, or 
both.  They greatly informed the group’s work and the report.

The first key finding of the report is that barriers to accessing contraception exist for some 
people.  It identifies the most prevalent obstacles as lack of local access, cost, embarrassment, 
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inconvenience and lack of knowledge.  It is evident that contraception use in Ireland is high and 
stable and that difficulty accessing contraception is a challenge at the margins in overall popu-
lation terms.  The notion that there is a sizable affordability challenge across the population as 
people seek to access contraception remains unproven.  A number of policy levers are available 
to the Government as it seeks to overcome the barriers that exist.  There is considerable support 
among stakeholders for the introduction of a universal, State-funded scheme for contracep-
tion.  The cost of introducing such a scheme is indicatively estimated at between €80 million 
and €100 million.  This is a significant sum and leads naturally to the question of whether such 
investment would represent the best use of resources.

As the committee will appreciate, there is a substantial list of health service development 
proposals across the spectrum of prevention, primary and community care and the acute hospi-
tal system.  Strong cases for additional investment can and have been made in respect of such 
proposals.  In addition to this opportunity cost, there is a real risk that making contraception free 
to end users will simply displace or substitute for private expenditure.  Equally, the view that 
free contraception will lead to a significant reduction in the number of crisis pregnancies may 
be over-optimistic.  Any policy initiative in this area should be seen as a behavioural interven-
tion and must go beyond the question of cost to address issues of local accessibility, education 
and workforce capacity, all of which are considered in the report.

In terms of accessibility, the report examined in particular the potential role of commu-
nity pharmacists in prescribing contraception, seeking to balance the need for easier access 
to services with the risk of contraindications and the positive health factors associated with 
continuity of care.  The report recommended that oral contraceptives could be prescribed for a 
12-month period to improve accessibility while maintaining patient safety, which would have 
the additional benefit of reducing costs to the State.

Education is highlighted as key to tackling lack of information, misinformation and embar-
rassment around contraception.  The review of relationships and sexuality education, RSE, 
curriculum is under way and is welcome, but there will also be a need for wider public informa-
tion campaigns, possibly under the Healthy Ireland banner.  Positive steps are being taken in 
this area, for example, through the sexual well-being website, but it is important that we build 
on this work to ensure that we are reaching and informing as many people as possible.  It also 
will be necessary to continue to build our workforce capacity to ensure that we have a sufficient 
number of trained healthcare providers to deliver safe and accessible contraception services.

The report concludes that there will always be some doubt as to whether a State-funded con-
traception scheme represents the optimal use of funds on a purely cost-benefit basis.  However, 
it is clear that there are considerations beyond the economic that need to be taken into account 
when formulating policy in this area.  These include: the human and women’s rights dimen-
sion of contraceptive access; the policy context following the introduction of termination of 
pregnancy services; and the potential health benefits.  It is these social or societal factors that 
led the group to suggest that further exploration of policy proposals to support contraception 
may be warranted and three possible options for further consideration are identified.  These are 
a universal State-funded contraception scheme based on the current General Medical Services, 
GMS, scheme but including the copper coil; the expansion of the GMS scheme as it relates to 
long-acting reversible contraception, LARC, to all women; or a phased approach to the intro-
duction of a free contraception scheme, beginning with younger women, possibly in the 17 to 
24 years age range.

The order in which the options were presented does not imply a ranking of preference, and 
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the group intended that they be viewed as possible directions of travel for further consideration 
rather than as fixed recommendations with set parameters.  Clearly, the development of these or 
other proposals would require further detailed policy and legislative work, as well as consulta-
tion with service providers.

It is important to recognise that the issues discussed in the report relate to just one aspect 
of the wider strategy to support sexual and reproductive healthcare.  The Department of Health 
and the HSE, in collaboration with stakeholders, are progressing work in a number of areas 
identified by the joint committee in respect of sexual health promotion and education.  This 
includes the expansion of the free provision of condoms to at-risk groups, while the HSE will 
be repeating the in-depth general population survey on sexual health and crisis pregnancy to 
provide us with up-to-date information to support policy development and implementation.  
The development of the national sexual health strategy will also commence in 2020.

The Minister believes that this committee is in a position to make a valuable contribution 
in charting a path forward that responds to the challenges and cost implications outlined in the 
report, while seeking to ensure that we can facilitate access to contraception and strengthen 
sexual and reproductive healthcare in Ireland more generally.  Hopefully, the discussion this 
morning can advance that aim.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Conlon.  I invite Dr. Henchion and Dr. Short to make their opening 
statements.  I believe they are sharing time.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: I thank the committee for the invitation to address it today.  I am 
a medical doctor and have specialised in reproductive health for over 20 years.  I have been 
the medical director of the Irish Family Planning Association, IFPA, since 2008.  The IFPA is 
Ireland’s leading sexual health charity.  It promotes the right of all people to sexual and repro-
ductive health information and to dedicated, confidential and affordable healthcare.

Access to a choice of contraceptive methods is critical to gender equality, to women’s ability 
to plan the number and spacing of any children they choose to have and to their participation in 
education, employment and public service, including voluntary work and politics.  It is central 
to the achievement of the right to health and it is key to reducing the rate of unintended preg-
nancy and sexually transmitted infections.

The IFPA welcomes the working group report.  The introduction of abortion care in Janu-
ary of this year has set a positive precedent for universal access to reproductive healthcare and 
policy on contraception should be consistent with this approach.  We support universal access 
to all available methods of contraception without cost to the individual.  This would enable 
people to choose the contraceptive most appropriate to their changing needs and preferences 
throughout their reproductive lives.

As a provider of abortion care and pregnancy counselling, we are acutely aware that many 
unintended pregnancies arise from poor or inadequate information and misinformation or be-
cause cost barriers force women who wish to avoid pregnancy to use unreliable methods or no 
method of contraception.  In my daily practice, I have seen women present with unintended 
pregnancy who had chosen an effective LARC method but had deferred having it because of the 
cost involved.  I have also seen women following a termination of pregnancy who are unable to 
afford their method of choice.  This is completely unacceptable and I do not think this is what 
the public voted for in last year’s referendum.
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Any contraceptive scheme must address the particular needs of young people.  International 
research indicates that young people have higher rates of non-adherence and discontinuation of 
contraception than adults.  We know from domestic research that adolescents identify cost as 
a barrier to access.  Furthermore, the Irish Study of Sexual Health and Relationships identifies 
those who have sex before the age of 17 years as being significantly more likely to experience 
a crisis pregnancy.  Given these risks and vulnerabilities, it would be unacceptable to exclude 
adolescents from a contraception scheme.

As the working group report acknowledges, the removal of the cost barrier alone is insuf-
ficient to ensure access to contraception for all who need it.  Policy reform must address all bar-
riers in a comprehensive and strategic approach.  This includes legal restrictions, poor access to 
information about contraception, regional disparities in the quality and availability of services, 
gaps in provider training and capacity, stigma and lack of confidentiality.

The development of an implementation plan with clear goals and achievable actions will be 
key to the successful roll-out of a contraceptive scheme.  This process must be undertaken in 
consultation with relevant stakeholders to ensure appropriate levels of planning and resourcing, 
as well as mechanisms for data collection, monitoring and evaluation.  Specific measures must 
be introduced to address the contraceptive needs of vulnerable and underserved populations, 
namely, adolescents, refugees, asylum seekers and other vulnerable migrants, people with dis-
abilities, homeless people, Travellers and other marginalised groups.

Members of the Oireachtas have a key role to play in supporting better access to contracep-
tion; political consensus and commitment on reproductive health policy will be crucial to full 
implementation, ensuring that these reforms can be progressed regardless of who is in govern-
ment.

Dr. Mary Short: I thank the committee for affording me the opportunity to address it.  I am 
a medical doctor, a general practitioner and the director of sexual and reproductive health at the 
Irish College of General Practitioners, ICGP.  I am also president of the European Society of 
Contraception and Reproductive Health and chair of the Irish Society of Health Care Profes-
sionals.

In light of a free termination of pregnancy service, the ICGP fully supports the principle of 
free contraception that is appropriate, available, accessible and free to those who wish to avail 
of it.  Put simply, giving access to a free contraceptive service is the logical next step following 
the implementation of the community-provided medical abortion service.

The ICGP commends Mr. Conlon and his team on their comprehensive report but we can-
not support the proposed phased roll-out of the service.  His statement that contraception has 
potential health benefits that impact on people, and women in particular, when the opportunity 
to choose the most effective and suitable type of contraception based on their lifestyles, health 
needs and preferences is afforded to them is fully supported by the college.  Reliable and ap-
propriate use of contraception allows a couple to plan, space and limit their family size when 
they are ready and prepared for parenthood.  In these different phases of a reproductive life, the 
choice of contraception will change depending on the needs of a couple.  However, there are 
parts of the report that do not reflect the experience of GPs and I would welcome the opportu-
nity to discuss this today.

Dr. Henchion and Mr. Conlon raised good points – lack of knowledge, fear of stigma and 
perceived lack of understanding from service providers may make contraception inaccessible.  
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This raises the fundamental issues of information, education and knowledge, all of which im-
pact on making the right choice at the right time.  While Mr. Conlon makes a case for prioritising 
free contraception for the vulnerable and the marginalised, he also points out that these groups 
may for the most part have free contraception available to them through the GMS scheme.

The parts missing here are fundamental knowledge of reproduction, that is, sex education; 
information regarding the different methods of contraception; and empowerment to make in-
formed choices appropriate to the particular need.  In addition, I make a case for those who 
have the educational knowledge but are at risk of making poor choices due to the initial cost 
outlay.  A pack of condoms may seem an inexpensive option in the short term while a long-
acting reversible method of contraception would be a better option.  There is, again, a case for 
information and education for women in their mid to late 40s who erroneously believe that age, 
infrequent intercourse, etc., precludes them from a pregnancy.  The ICGP, therefore, supports 
full and free contraception for all groups.

GPs are ideally placed to provide a full range of contraceptive services in the community.  
We are an education and training body and the college provides training in all methods of 
contraception and runs designated courses in the training of LARC.  The college would like 
to expand the training and upskilling of our colleagues.  The provision of LARC requires a 
specialised skill set of technical expertise.  The training is time consuming and demands up to 
five sessions or two and a half days, although probably more in real time, to gain the necessary 
expertise, meaning GPs require funding and support for upskilling but, in economic terms, this 
is an upfront investment with long-term benefits.

 I hope that we are all agreed that providing free abortion without contraception is not a 
healthy option.  There is a strong case to be made for the normalising of attitudes to sexual and 
reproductive health, to rid ourselves of the stigma around our sexuality and to approach our re-
productive lives through education and information appropriate to the age cohort.  Free contra-
ception on its own has not been shown to work, for which I gave the example of the UK but this 
has happened in other jurisdictions.  Free contraception, acknowledgement of our sexual lives 
and needs over time, and a proper structural information and education programme will work 
to reduce the need for abortion, which is, I presume, the purpose of this exercise and would be a 
rewarding outcome for the provision of access to a free contraceptive service in the community. 

Chairman: I thank Dr. Short and Dr. Henchion.  I call Deputy Stephen Donnelly.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I thank all the witnesses and their colleagues for coming here 
today, and for their work.  Clearly, a lot of work has gone into this comprehensive report.  It 
provides an excellent opportunity to debate the issues and various trade-offs.

There is a load of detail that I would love to get into with the witnesses.  However, the 
question that people around Ireland and members of the public will have, and the question 
that I have been approached with by people who knew this session was coming up, is when 
will this happen.  We have a good report, which and lays out the pros and cons, but it does not 
recommend a policy suite.  There are some useful tensions between the various expert groups.  
People have different views but everyone is trying to achieve the same end and the debate is 
very useful.  The fear is that while the debate continues in the meantime no money is allocated 
for budget 2020 and not enough happens.

Regarding implementation, is there an agreed timeline under which a package of interven-
tions will be agreed?  If so, when should the public start seeing a difference be it in the number 
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of GPs with more training and knowledge, education in schools and for particular target groups, 
or free, partially free or more affordable contraception and so forth?  When will the public, after 
whatever is decided, begin to see this happen for them?  Is there an allocation in budget 2020 to 
pay for whatever is finally agreed?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: No money was allocated in budget 2020 for a free contraception 
scheme for two main reasons.  First, it was a difficult budget in the context of a no-deal Brexit.  
Each Department and, indeed, the national finances were under pressure in that respect.

Second, the new money that was available for health has been prioritised towards mental 
health, community services and so on.  There is also a practical element to that decision.  As the 
report makes clear, there is an awful lot of detailed policy work and legislative work to be done 
to advance a scheme.  In that sense, there would be little to be gained by allocating money in 
budget 2020 as the odds are it would sit there and not be utilised.

The mission for the Departments, in the 12 months ahead, is to do the detailed appraisal 
work.  The report should be seen as a preliminary appraisal in public spending code terms, and 
now we move to consult with service providers to get more certainty on costs, examine our 
legislative position and finesse the parameters of the scheme that is advanced.  

Having said that, what has come across so far in the report and statements is the work that 
has been done already, particularly in education.  The HSE is working on that by developing a 
sexual well-being website and ensuring that there is a local distribution of materials and so on.  
We also have an ongoing review of the relationships and sexuality education, RSE, curriculum.  
There certainly has been progress.  I accept that it might be a little under the surface at the mo-
ment and the public will not be able to see it but that is the direction of travel.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Has the Department a forecast date for when the public will 
see a difference?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: The Minister has indicated that he would like something in 2021.  
He is genuinely keen, as is the Department, and as am I as an official, to hear the views of this 
committee.  By being here this morning we are progressing this issue.  The Department is also 
very much engaged at this time of year in setting its priorities and allocating its own internal 
resources.  The management board, the Secretary General and the Minister are having those 
discussions about the priorities for the Department over the next 12 months.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: My following comment is not directed at Mr. Conlon, as he is 
not to blame, but what he has told us is very disappointing.  Many committee members support 
the idea that if free abortion services are going to be provided, contraception must be provided 
free.  It would be a perverse situation whereby women had to pay for contraception but not 
abortion in the case of a fatal foetal abnormality, crisis pregnancy or whatever.  Introducing 
abortion services was not a simple thing to do, yet it was done but we are looking at several 
years after that before movements on contraception can be made.  I am not a doctor but I imag-
ine that steps such as training for GPs or reducing the cost of LARC, or rolling out education 
programmes for younger people and vulnerable groups are simpler to do than introducing abor-
tion throughout the country.

My criticism is not aimed at anybody here but I am disappointed that people in will have to 
wait several years for action on this matter.  I thank Mr. Conlon for the invite for us to give our 
views and input.  My view and input is that things needs to start happening now.  The service 
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plan has not been signed off.  I must confess that when I read Dr. Short’s opening statement 
last night I was surprised at her call for further GP training.  I would have thought that every 
GP understood contraception.  Dr. Short is an expert who represents the ICGP.  If what she is 
telling us is that GPs need more training, then let us give them more training.  That is certainly 
not expensive to provide.  Better intervention in schools, and better intervention with some 
vulnerable members of the population such as immigrant women, asylum seekers and various 
other groups, could be concocted and rolled out in a matter of weeks.   It is a small amount in the 
context of an €18 billion budget.  We are all trying to empower women, and men, and especially 
younger women and women who are at higher risk.  That kind of intervention can happen pretty 
quickly and at a low cost.  We should get this up and running in the first quarter of next year.  
Let us get that into the service plan.

Dr. Short gave figures ranging between €80 million to €100 million, which will take most 
people by surprise.  That is a chunk of cash.  In the context of women’s reproductive health, 
the Rotunda Hospital is screaming for investment just to make the hospital safe while they wait 
for God knows how long for a move out to the Connolly Hospital campus.  The Rotunda needs 
some €20 million to make a significant difference in what is one of Europe’s busiest maternity 
hospitals.  They cannot get that, so €80 million to €100 million is a chunk of change.  I bet 
the GPs could be trained up, education programmes could be run and targeted interventions 
could be used for a small amount.  The report, and the opening statements, referred to the GMS 
scheme for medical cards, including some supports.  It is by no means a perfect way, but it is 
one way of targeting supports to lower income people, and it is the entire point of the medical 
card scheme.  It would be possible to identify the additional changes to that, or whatever bits 
are not currently included.

Chairman: Let us get some responses.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: That was my input.  That was not my question.  Mr. Conlon 
had looked for some input so that is my input.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: I thank the Deputy.

Ms Kate O’Flaherty: My colleague, Mr. Conlon, answered some queries on budget 2020 
and the matters that his report looked at and I will add to that.  I can confirm that increased 
funding has gone into the ancillary recommendations in respect of education and sexual health 
promotion.  Additional money was allocated last year, broadly, for sexual health, which was 
a big focus for the Department and for the HSE, and included HIV prevention.  While we are 
not discussing this matter specifically today, it is interrelated with regard to the education and 
broader sexual health promotion.  Additional funding of €1.5 million has gone into a HSE 
sexual health programme for ancillary recommendations in respect of sexual health education 
and promotion, and the extension of the national condom distribution service, which we have 
started, and the committee may have seen the start of the roll-out in third level campuses.  This 
is the start of the roll-out to other areas with at-risk groups.  As Mr. Conlon referred to in his 
opening remarks, another comprehensive survey has been conducted of the population.  It is 
almost a decade since we had the Irish Contraception and Crisis Pregnancy Study 2010.  My 
colleague from the HSE will elaborate on any of those points for the committee if members 
wish.  I confirm there is investment, and some of the other recommendations and actions the 
Deputy mentioned have started this year.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: So something is happening.
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Ms Kate O’Flaherty: Absolutely.

Dr. Mary Short: In response to the question on doctors needing training and upskilling, he 
ICGP has trained more than 1,000 doctors in the provision of LARC.  The demand, however, 
has only been approximately 17%.  We perceive that this will change when this becomes freely 
accessible to people.  Obviously, this cohort of doctors - and more besides - will need to be 
upskilled and probably retrained.  That is where this part of the equation comes in.  We do have 
it but the further provision will probably require upskilling in certain areas.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I thank Dr. Short.  I have three more questions.

Chairman: Be very quick.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Should pharmacists be allowed to prescribe the pill?  Given 
that we are in a world of finite resources, and considering affordability, what is the first action 
that should be taken?  Is there a target group that, for a relatively affordable amount, should 
have certain contraception made available that we could do very quickly?  Could we get to the 
highest need people quickly for a fraction of the €80 million to €100 million?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: With regard to reaching people, the report suggests a phased approach 
targeting young women first.  It is affordable and the evidence suggests they are an at-risk group 
with most difficulty accessing contraception and the highest levels of crisis pregnancies.  This is 
not to dismiss the comments that have been made about women in the older age groups.  When 
we consider the statistics, young women are the group one would focus on first.  It would help 
to overcome the budgetary challenge.

We wrestled with the issue of pharmacists prescribing.  The recommendation expands the 
role of pharmacists in this area by extending the length of prescription for oral contraception.  
The group thought the issue and the role of pharmacists in healthcare, with pharmacists acting 
at the top of their licence and so on, went beyond the remit of the group as it was about more 
than contraception.  We are all aware of Sláintecare and the reform of the health system.  If there 
is to be a greater role for pharmacists and pharmacy prescribing by hospital and community 
pharmacists, it should be looked at as an issue on its own merits rather than being approached 
piecemeal through issues such as the prescription of contraception.  The reference to that issue 
needs to be examined further.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Is that a “Yes”, “No”, or “Maybe”?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: The recommendation in the report is clear.  It was also clear that we 
had conflicting views from different stakeholder groups on this issue.  It was very difficult, if 
not impossible, for the group to make a decision within the timeframe and with the resources 
we had.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: So it is a “Maybe”.  It is not a clear “Yes” or “No”.  Is that what 
Mr. Conlon is saying?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: The issue requires further exploration about the role of pharmacies 
across the health system rather than relating purely to contraception

Chairman: I thank Deputy Donnelly and Mr. Conlon.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: I welcome the witnesses and apologise in advance that I have a 
small cold, but I am making a massive deal out of it.  It is big to me.
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Mr. Andrew Conlon: Is it man flu?

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: It is pure man flu I have.

The working group put forward a number of possible directions: universal access, LARC, 
and a targeted scheme.  I refer specifically to the front-line medical professionals in this regard.  
Do they have a view on whether it should be some or all, and what is the best way forward out 
of those choices?  In an ideal world, what would they opt for?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Universal access is what one is going to be looking for.  No mat-
ter how good any targeted intervention will be, people in need will always be left out.  Having 
said that, it is worthwhile recognising the real world and recognising budgetary constraints, and 
that one has to do a good health economic analysis on this to try to figure out what the costs 
would be.

If it is going to be rolled out over time, one would try to see where phase one would start 
and see who are the most at-risk groups rather than just simply saying it is young people.  The 
abortion statistics say the highest rate of abortion is in the 25 to 35 year age cohort and not 
necessarily only young people.  Perhaps costs might be a more significant reason the younger 
people are not using contraception than it is for the older age group.  It is a lot more complex 
than just looking at statistics.

There is a very easily recognisable group, for example, where somebody has had an unin-
tended pregnancy.  Whether they have an abortion or proceed to have a normal pregnancy to 
term, that person did not want to be pregnant and could be targeted with an intervention.  Be it 
post-natal care, post-abortion care or specific age cohorts and so on, the important thing is that 
it would be a structured phased roll-out.  I understand where Deputy Donnelly is coming from 
in wanting to do something, but I would be worried about doing something that is not part of 
a proper structure, so we can see where it is going, what stage is going to happen when, and 
where the end point is.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Would the best time to incorporate that education, which could 
be as subtle as a chat, be immediately post-natal or immediately post-abortion so the opportu-
nity is there to talk to that targeted group in the first instance?  In that case, it would be a matter 
of having a chat with the person as to what suits her best and giving her the prescription.  Money 
would not be a barrier in that case.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: That is 100% right.  In the case of somebody who is continuing 
with a pregnancy, there are several months in which to make the decision.  In the circumstances 
we are discussing, the decision would be made very quickly rather than thinking about it only 
after the baby is born.

With an abortion, there is a very tight framework.  Fertility returns within seven or eight 
days.  Therefore, there is a need to use visits to start something and have a plan in order that, 
after two to three weeks and when in a position to confirm everything is complete, one is ready 
to go straight ahead.  Unfortunately, it is sometimes purely down to money.  I am not saying 
money is everything but it can definitely be a factor.  It can be related to simple factors such as 
having to buy a lot of schoolbooks in September.  It is not necessarily a question of poverty or 
poor families.  The families could be doing fine generally.  The cost might not be huge but it 
might not be possible to meet it at that exact moment because of conflicting costs.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Then the window of opportunity is lost.  If the person does not 



14

JH

have the money in her back pocket when having the conversation, the window of opportunity 
is lost.  We are all agreed on the best time to have the chat.  When the opportunity is lost, the 
woman is lost to the system because she may not be returning for any reason.

In Dr. Henchion’s experience, is money an issue when having the conversation?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: It definitely can be.  I have seen people who went to the doctor to 
arrange to have a Mirena coil inserted and got a prescription but who are now pregnant because 
they could not afford to buy the device in the pharmacy.  After an abortion, young people for 
whom cashflow might be an issue might decide they definitely want an implant but, because 
they cannot get the money from parents or others, are not in a position to go ahead with that.  
They make a responsible decision but are unable to act on it.

Dr. Mary Short: I concur with Dr. Henchion.  It is very hard to single out one group of 
people who should be afforded free contraception.  It is inappropriate.  Providing only LARCs 
would afford no choice at all.  It sends out the wrong message in that we are dictating a choice 
to a woman when, in fact, she should be able to avail of all options if she so chooses.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: In his submission, Mr. Conlon mentioned a figure of €80 million 
to €100 million.  Is that based on every woman of reproductive age having access deciding to 
avail?  Is it based on the current number if there were no charge in the morning?  Alternatively, 
is it based on a take-up rate of 100%?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: It is based on a cohort of women aged between 16 and 44, with an 
uptake rate of between 50% to 60%.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: What is the current rate?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: For GMS patients, it is just over 50%.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Just over 50%.  What is the figure for the general non-GMS 
population?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: We do not have those data, I am afraid.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: With regard to providers outside the State, I understand the up-
take rate, even where there is no charge, is around 35%.  Am I wrong about that?  One can read 
many studies but I do not have Mr. Conlon’s expertise.  I understand from what I read that the 
figure is around 35%.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: That is not a figure I have come across in research we looked at.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Where there is universal access, one would be contemplating 
rates of approximately 60% and that is what Mr. Conlon based those figures on.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: The rate is from 50% to 60%, which was based on the take-up of 
contraceptive services among the GMS population of women in the age group.  That is the es-
timate.  We hope to see an increase in the uptake of contraception with the education, the fact 
it is free and so on.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: When Mr. Conlon was coming up with a figure, did he factor in 
a reduction in demand for termination-of-pregnancy services, which would inevitably-----

Mr. Andrew Conlon: It is not in the figure of €80 million to €100 million but it is acknowl-
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edged in the report that we would expect to see approximately €11 million in savings from a 
reduction in terminations, assuming an uptake in LARC usage.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Straight away, then, we are down to €69 million.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: Absolutely.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Did Mr Conlon try to estimate the wider savings that could be 
made in terms of the prevention of unplanned pregnancies or crisis pregnancies?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: Not within that figure.  It is acknowledged in the report that further 
work would need to be done to nail down costs.  The key element will be the clinical costs and 
the negotiation of consultation with service providers.  A lot more clarity is needed.  I stress the 
estimate is indicative.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: We acknowledge it is tough to measure but the good news is that 
even after this chat, we could get the figure down to €69 million.  We could make a very good 
value-for-money argument for the Minister and have our proposal implemented very quickly.

It is important when discussing this that we factor in the potential savings.  We all know 
there will be benefits from this.  What we need to do is ensure we consider positively what we 
can do and the best way to do so.  We should consider not only the cost to the State but also what 
we do could in the long run to save the State a few bob.

Is there scope for an increased role for practice nurses or other healthcare professionals?  I 
am being very helpful to the Government here because I am talking about a more inexpensive 
way to deliver care.  What I propose would see an expansion, but not just in the number of prac-
tice nurses because other healthcare professionals might also have a role.  They could expand 
their role and they would have a good part to play.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: Absolutely.  I am not sure whether anyone else would like to contrib-
ute on that.

Dr. Mary Short: I believe we all agree on that.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Practice nurse roles have been expanding all the time.  There 
are many skills that practice nurses bring to the job.  They can bring immediacy.  Obviously, 
the role of pharmacy could also be expanded.  Without any major change, the lengthening of 
the prescription time is very simple.  We are working against guidelines on this.  We would be 
saying we should be able to give year-long prescriptions but we are not at present.  Some small 
changes in this regard would be very quick to make.  Obviously, we should consider other ways 
to provide-----

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: I mean no disrespect to the doctors in the room in saying it is 
a very good and slightly less expensive approach.  We are already at €69 million and moving 
down.  It is becoming very manageable.

Dr. Mary Short: I wish to add to that.  I concur with my colleagues on practice nurses and 
the pharmacy aspect but as matters stand, practice nurses have no designated training.  That will 
be another element we will have to address to have standardisation.  Work is being done on a 
diploma in practice care nursing, which is very important.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: That would be fantastic.  Again, we are not talking about a mas-
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sive amount of training but a relatively small amount, the benefits of which could be absolutely 
massive.

Dr. Mary Short: Absolutely.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Following on from the comments of Deputy O’Reilly, I note Mr. 
Conlon’s comments on the expansion of the role of pharmacists throughout the health service 
but we are talking about contraception here today.  While the idea of lengthening the prescrip-
tion time is very welcome, I have never understood, as a pharmacist, why a prescription would 
not be for a year, especially where the long-term use of oral contraceptives is concerned.  There 
obviously would be a saving for the patient in terms of both money and time.

What is the medical logic for not expanding the role of the pharmacists right now in the 
provision of oral contraceptive pills, especially in light of the success of the morning-after pill?  
The morning-after pill is a far more potent compound than standard oral contraception.  While 
I am largely out of doing community pharmacy work personally, in recent years there has been 
the advent of the online prescription in that one has an interface with a doctor who is often in 
another jurisdiction with no patient contact and no blood pressure monitoring.  The blood pres-
sure monitoring is the duty of the community pharmacist at the point of dispensing and the pre-
scription comes in online.  To my mind, that is moving away from immediate interaction with 
the patient and all the benefits that brings at doctor level and pharmacy level.  It does not seem 
logical that on the one hand we say it is fine to go online, meet a doctor and get a prescription 
but on the other hand we say it is not fine to go into an experienced community pharmacist who 
has been dealing with issues such as this for many years, is well able to take blood pressure, is 
well able to have a chat with someone and has spent extensive time studying contraceptives at 
undergraduate and postgraduate level.  I cannot understand why it is seen as better for the pa-
tient to interact with a doctor online rather than with a community pharmacist in person as there 
is generally one on every street in Ireland.  Can Mr. Conlon expand on the logic behind that?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: I completely agree with that comparison between an online doctor 
and a pharmacist.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: There is no arguing with it.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: We want a doctor and patient relationship.  The group met represen-
tatives of the Irish Pharmacy Union, IPU, which sent in a forceful submission to the commit-
tee on the report.  I assure members we heard equally forthright views from the GPs and their 
representatives.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I will stop Mr. Conlon there because we had this before about ten 
years ago with the use of the flu vaccination.  There was massive pushback from the medical 
profession to the effect that pharmacists should not be injecting vaccines.  When I was studying 
at undergraduate level 20 years ago, it was never assumed that would be part of a pharmacist’s 
role but we managed it, we upskilled and we did it.  There was all sorts of scaremongering that 
people would have anaphylactic reactions in pharmacies all over Ireland but none of that hap-
pened.  It has been hailed as a huge success in patient satisfaction, in accessibility and in the 
ultimate goal of having a high uptake of the flu vaccine and convenience for patients.  It has 
worked in a far more invasive and riskier setting in respect of the vaccine.  We were heading 
towards a swine flu epidemic at the time and so there was an appetite to do it.  Just because there 
is no major unwanted pregnancy epidemic in the country now does not mean we should pull 
back from this.  That is why I cannot understand the logic because this shift happened before in 
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administration and the same arguments that were used ten years ago are being used about the 
contraceptive pill.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: I want to cut to the chase.  The arguments that persuaded the group 
to put forward the recommendations we did were the importance of the continuity of care.  The 
doctor and patient relationship is key to integrated health.  We have mentioned the women’s 
healthcare context a lot this morning already.  There is evidence that regular visits by women to 
a GP seem to promote better health outcomes.  Therefore, we would be reluctant, as a group-----

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Mr. Conlon said “seem to promote”.  What sort of quantitative 
analysis do we have of that?  Is it just the view of the working group?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: No.  The women’s health task force that is working on that has sug-
gested there is evidence there.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: It has suggested it?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: It has suggested that to me in my capacity as a member of the work-
ing group.  Fundamentally, the continuity of care piece, the doctor and patient relationship-----

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: We have loads of examples of continuity of care within the phar-
macy sector.  In the high tech scheme, for example, there is a patient care fee every month where 
the patient is assigned to a pharmacy at the point of prescription by a consultant and goes to that 
same pharmacy every month.  There is a mechanism for people to engage on a continuous basis 
with their community pharmacist even if they are not having a dispensing of a particular item so 
there is a precedent there for the continuity of care.  We have had many meetings in here where 
we have had GPs explain to us the huge pressures on their surgeries and tell us they are not able 
to cope with the demand.  If we are moving into the implementation of Sláintecare, expand-
ing the role of pharmacists and practice nurses and changing the role of GPs in the delivery of 
care, surely this is a logical first step.  Mr. Conlon has not given me any logical reason to help 
me understand why this is not being rolled out in community pharmacy, other than referring to 
people’s views.  I am talking about oral contraceptive pills and barrier contraceptives.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: On this particular issue, the other consideration we had is there is 
too much of a focus on the idea that the dispensing of contraceptive pills would possibly run 
counter to our wish to encourage the use of LARC.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Yes, but as Dr. Short said, the choice element is fundamental to 
a woman’s healthcare.  While the evidence all suggests that the lower the user input, the more 
efficacious a product is and that we have far more success with long-acting reversible contra-
ceptives, the fact is, as all the experts here know, at different stages in their lives women might 
choose an oral contraceptive pill at the start as there is a familiarity with it.  I would like to see 
a point arrive where everybody is familiar with a long-acting reversible contraceptive but we 
are a while off that.  There are psychological barriers to it and there might be issues where one 
might only need a contraceptive for a short time.  It is far more complex, as the witnesses know, 
than just horsing a long-acting contraceptive into everybody.  If we look at the dispensing data 
and if we leave cost out of it, a huge cohort of women in Ireland choose the oral contraceptive 
pill.  That might be due to cost, familiarity or because of what is happening in their lives at that 
particular time.  I cannot understand, when we consider the pressure that is on the health ser-
vice, why we cannot look at this and try to help those women in a community pharmacy setting 
in order to take some pressure off the GP surgeries.  We should move towards educating the next 



18

JH

generation of younger girls in the field of long-acting contraceptives such as LARC, the bar in 
the arm and the Depo injections.  I cannot see why there is resistance to that.  It almost seems 
like a turf war in the health service again.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: If there is a turf war it does not involve officials.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I am not suggesting that.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: The IPU would not agree with this but the recommendation in the re-
port about lengthening oral contraception was a move towards greater pharmacist involvement 
with the six-month consultation with the pharmacists.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: It seems like the smallest step that could have been made; dou-
bling the length of the prescription time.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: It was pragmatic and I accept it is conservative but-----

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: It was the least the working group could have done.  Bearing in 
mind the discussions we had at the Committee on the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution 
to look at the roles of pharmacists internationally and the expansion, doubling the prescription 
time is about as little as could have possibly been done.  Looking at the interesting statistics 
on the cohort of women who are more likely to have a termination, between 25 and 35 years 
of age, Dr. Henchion mentioned the cost element for younger girls.  It is so complicated to try 
to determine who is most at need.  That is clear in the report, which I have read a number of 
times.  It is difficult to qualitatively analyse the report and determine where the money is best 
spent.  Should it be given to the poorest person?  Should it be give to the person who is most at 
risk?  Why do we not just do our best with what we have at the minute?  We have community 
pharmacists who are well trained in this area.  Some pharmacists are particularly popular, if 
that is the word, for morning-after pills and access to contraception.  I cannot understand, when 
we have such a large cohort of patients with such a large headline figure of €90 million to €100 
million, why we do not work with what we have to start without trying to fix the whole thing 
on day one.  We would tap into people within every age group within the community pharmacy.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: To return to my point when I was responding to Deputy O’Reilly, 
I would not like the response to be determined by what can be done quickly.  It has to be a 
proper, organised roll-out of a scheme.  I am concerned that if a rushed step was taken, it could 
be the only step taken for a long time.  It might incentivise one method over others, even though 
that method has been shown not to be perfect.  While nothing will be perfect, the working group 
report outlined research that showed that 18.8% of oral contraceptive users had failed to get a 
prescription on time.  We know from James Trussell’s research in the US the difference between 
perfect use, that is, in laboratory conditions where the user is handed the pill every day and the 
failure rate is 0.3%, and typical use, where the failure rate is 9%.  The solution is not to target 
one method and incentivise it through one scheme-----

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I did not suggest that, as Dr. Henchion knows.  I suggest that we 
already have-----

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: My concern is that if such a measure is taken in the short term, it 
may be the only measure taken for a long time.  I have no problem with increasing that role-----

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I am opposed to the idea that oral contraceptives from pharma-
cies would be the only measure we take.  There is easier access in many other countries.  There 
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are now online doctor services, which is a total game changer.  It is more advantageous for a 
patient’s outcomes to interface with his or her experienced community pharmacy rather than 
interacting with a doctor online.  The horse has bolted in respect of the way we dispense medi-
cine and the way consultations happen.  There should be a one-to-one consultation with a phar-
macist.  I do not understand why the consultation cannot involve a referral.  If a woman who 
has been on the contraceptive pill for 18 months presents at a pharmacy and seeks a five-year 
or long-acting solution, why is a referral not part of the process?  Community pharmacists are 
well used to such scenarios.  An average of 90% of our work is referring people to doctors to 
be fixed up.  I fail to understand why it cannot be part of the solution.  I cannot understand the 
resistance to it, apart from the fact that there may to some extent be turf wars, like in the case 
of vaccines back in the day.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: I do not see any problem with it being a part of the solution.  My 
point is that I would like to know what the whole solution is before I jump into anything-----

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Absolutely.  It should be a part of it.

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: I welcome our guests to the meeting, thank them 
for the massive work they put in to the report and say, “Well done.”  While it has nothing to do 
with them, I am disappointed there was no allocation in the budget for contraception.  Surely if 
the issue was to be taken seriously, there would have been an allocation in the 2020 health bud-
get.  I acknowledge it was a different type of budget from other years because of the looming 
potential costs arising from Brexit, but it would have been a vote of confidence in our guests’ 
work if there had been a small allocation.

The report states education and information can help tackle issues relating to a lack of in-
formation, misinformation and embarrassment.  Surely education could be provided at a lower 
cost than providing free contraception for everyone.  What plans are there to tackle the lack of 
education?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: I might refer to my colleagues from the HSE, who are the experts on 
the education aspect.

Ms Maeve O’Brien: The sexual health and crisis pregnancy programme in the HSE works 
in the area of education and information.  We worked with the NCCA on the recent review of 
RSE in post-primary schools and the review is currently with the council of the NCCA, which 
will address the school-space setting.  Aside from that, we work with youth work settings and 
provide information to parents to support them in talking to their children about relationships, 
sexuality and growing up.  We carried out a comprehensive qualitative study with parents in 
2016 examining the barriers they experience and their concerns about talking to younger chil-
dren aged between four and nine.  On that basis, we developed a resource for parents to support 
them in the area.

We are also redeveloping our information for young people on a website.  We have a website 
called b4udecide.ie, which was developed in 2007 to target 14 to 17 year olds, but it is outdated 
following recent changes.  We are currently reworking the information with a view to relaunch-
ing it next year.

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: Is it all targeted at teenagers?  What about the 
young men and women who might have left school when there was not a great deal of talk about 
sex education?  I refer to those who might now be in their late 20s or early 30s.  Does the HSE 
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target that age group?

Ms Maeve O’Brien: Absolutely.  We launched sexualwellbeing.ie in 2018, which contains 
comprehensive information on all the different types of contraception available.  We also have 
a digital strategy that targets young adults via Facebook and Twitter to ensure that the informa-
tion is digitally available, and work with the National Youth Council of Ireland and Foróige, the 
latter which delivers the REAL U training and workshops on the development of RSE policies, 
as well as providing training on pornography.

We work in three areas, namely, schools, youth work settings and parents, while information 
for the adult population is available on our website.

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: That is good.  The estimated cost of €80 mil-
lion to €100 million is a large sum, and there is a difference of €20 million.  I accept that it is 
estimated but which of the two figures does the HSE expect it to be closer to?  The sum of €20 
million is a large difference.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: It is a large difference, which reflects the uptake, that is, whether it 
will be 50% or 60%.  Deputy O’Reilly was correct that we will deduct a savings amount from 
there being fewer terminations and so on.  There are issues with the cost, which is why I stress, 
on my own behalf in some ways, that there are many uncertainties and the figures are very much 
an estimate.  In discussions with service providers, if we can come up with a scheme whereby 
the people who are currently part of the GMS scheme are retained therein and funded through 
capitation payments, the cost will reduce because the figures of between €80 million and €100 
million represent the cost of targeting the entire population.  It is the cost of doing exactly what 
it says on tin.  The entire population is considered to be those between the ages of 16 and 44 
and there is work to be done in that regard.  The Department will aim to drive down the cost as 
much as possible.

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: On the mechanics of the report, Mr. Conlon stat-
ed 5,000 responses had been received in a public consultation exercise.  Will he explain how 
that worked?  Did the Department call or write to people?  How did it choose whom to contact?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: It was an online survey for which one could use one’s phone.  There 
was also a press release and the Minister launched the online consultation.  It was self-selecting 
and results were received by our research unit.  While I received the information only yesterday, 
3,500 of the 5,000 responses were completed submissions.  The rest were ones where people 
dipped in and out and did not finish.  I do not wish to mislead anyone in respect of the figure of 
5,000, given that only 3,500 submissions were complete.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I welcome our guests and thank them for their information.  
I will approach the matter from the point of view of education, which is a fundamental part of 
access to contraception in respect of giving advice to women and girls well in advance in order 
that they will have some idea of the necessity to have options.  Is it intended to impart the infor-
mation through schools, pharmacies or GPs?  What is the best way to provide that information?  
During the hearings on the eighth amendment, we came across a number of cases where there 
was a serious dearth of information, particularly among teenagers.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: The simple answer to that question is that we need to use all those 
methods.  We need the schools aspect, which is being worked on, but we also need to follow 
up with the people the Deputy mentioned who have left school or did not receive that educa-



27 NOVEMBER 2019

21

tion at school, through GPs, pharmacies, or primary care centres.  Putting the information in 
those sorts of places strikes me as a sensible thing to do.  However, I will refer the matter to the 
experts here.

Ms Kate O’Flaherty: That education information is provided in all those settings.  It is 
already on the school curriculum.  My colleague, Ms O’Brien, alluded to some of the resources 
available from the HSE, which provides evidence-based information for different age groups to 
parents and schools.  Much more work must to be done in that area, pending the outcome of the 
review of the RSE curriculum.  That will involve changes for every age group.  The information 
is there.  As Ms O’Brien noted, a great deal of work has been done in the past few years to build 
our content and resources and make it much more youth-friendly and accessible through online 
and social media channels.  Young people would have been consulted in the development of all 
those materials.

Information on contraception is already there, to the extent that it is included in the HSE’s 
resources and is provided as part of a normal consultation.  I take the point that while the con-
tent and information may be there, people are not getting the knowledge and confidence they 
need to make those choices.  That is something we can look at, in terms of how we work with 
partner organisations that interact with young people and women outside of school settings in 
particular.  We need to broaden the base of the people using the one trusted set of resources.  It 
has been important for us to have an evidence-based, factual information resource, which was 
developed by the HSE in partnership with young people, teachers and parents.  It is helpful for 
young people that everybody is using the same resources and information, because they will not 
get confused if they have a good source of information.

Another important point to which Ms O’Brien alluded is that we now have a single founda-
tion sexual training programme, which all adults who work with young people go through.  That 
goes back to some of Dr. Short’s points on the need for the adult population to be more open and 
comfortable in talking about sexuality and sexual and reproductive health.  Much good work 
has been done in the past couple of years, and is still being done, to build those resources.  We 
need to strengthen the partnerships we have with people, in order that the same information, 
evidence base and facts go out to everybody through that wider partnership.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Based on the witnesses’ examination of the issue, have they 
identified areas that are deficient in getting the relevant information to the people at whom it is 
aimed?  In general, what are the logistical snags?

Ms Kate O’Flaherty: Generally, with any health issue, one tries to produce the evidence 
base, facts and information in a friendly manner with simple language in order that people can 
understand it and get the knowledge.  One of the trickier parts of any health intervention is 
helping someone to use that knowledge to support making decisions or choices.  That is a more 
ongoing and in-depth issue.  We work with the education system on well-being in a wider way 
to ensure young people have the skills to make those decisions.  As part of our population sur-
vey or other surveys in developing future campaigns, we are always looking at whether people 
can understand the information and use it.  That is key.  Other factors sometimes affect how a 
person uses the information they get as well.  They need to get it multiple times rather than just 
once.  There is a benefit to the same fact-based independent information being available from 
multiple sources, because it helps increase people’s understanding.

Dr. Mary Short: According to some of the reports published through the HSE, parents are 
more reluctant to talk to their young children about their sexuality.  There is a case to be made 
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for educating parents at the same time as schemes are rolled out for children in schools.  Some 
parents do not have the language to have these conversations.  If we normalise our sexuality as 
part of our developmental process and give parents the language to have those conversations, 
it will make for a better society in the long run.  That is a fundamental and important thing to 
do for the future.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: The next issue on which I require some assurance, from a 
health and safety point of view, is the choice of contraception types.  Women currently access 
contraception by way of the Internet.  Do the witnesses have a means of imparting knowledge 
on a health and safety basis?  In some cases, a particular type of contraception may be unsuit-
able from a safety point of view.  How do they interact with those potential cases?

Dr. Mary Short: First, we see women as individuals so every conversation we have with 
a woman is different.  Women may come in with an idea of a type of contraception that may 
have been suggested to them by a friend or the Internet, and it is up to us as doctors to have 
that conversation, sort out what their needs are and decide whether that method of contracep-
tion is appropriate for them.  They may, however, leave the consulting room with a less suitable 
method because the more suitable option is not affordable for them.  This also relates to the 
matter of initial pharmacy prescribing, about which I have some reservations.  Contraception 
is a medication to which contraindications and risks are attached.  Women should consult a 
doctor, at least for the first visit, and if problems arise from the dispensing of contraception 
through pharmacies, they should be referred back to the doctor.  Every individual case requires 
an individual consultation.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I agree entirely.  The point I am trying to make is that, in the 
event of access to either information or contraception not being as good as it might be, women 
- younger women in particular - may still opt for the Internet.  There will be no provision in 
the public arena for someone to discuss with the woman in question what is best for her, given 
her health profile.  Situations will and do arise where, while particular prescribed methods may 
work for that woman, they may have other side effects as well.  That is the point at which I am 
trying to get.  We need to make contraception safe and available at a reasonable cost, without 
taking risks.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: It is, again, about looking at everybody as an individual.  While 
HSE websites, for example, provide lots of information about methods, in some cases a person 
might have two or three health issues, and while one of them alone might be fine, together they 
might not.  No amount of public information will be able to educate people sufficiently to give 
them that level of knowledge.  That is what healthcare professionals are for.  Taking the cost 
out of accessing contraception from a healthcare professional is the way to go about trying to 
prevent those sorts of public safety issues arising.

Chairman: I call Deputy Alan Kelly.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I will pass the floor to Senator Kelleher.  I was not here earlier.

Senator  Colette Kelleher: I thank the witnesses for their presentations.  To be blunt and 
honest, I am very disappointed.  I made a contribution to the consultation during the summer 
and I am very disappointed with the report.  It has moved away from the principle of women 
getting access to contraception.  The debate is becoming more about cost, what we can afford 
and what we can tinker with and creating false alternatives.  I am very disappointed about that.  
My questions are in concert with that and are directed particularly at Mr. Conlon.  Does Mr. 
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Conlon accept that contraception is fundamental to women exercising their health and repro-
ductive rights and to preventing unwanted pregnancies throughout women’s fertile lives?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: The report is very clear on that.  It states that.

Senator  Colette Kelleher: That is a “Yes”, then.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: That is what the report states, absolutely, yes.

Senator  Colette Kelleher: Does Mr. Conlon accept that contraception is a public as well 
as a private matter, that it is a matter of public policy and that it has a rightful call on the public 
purse?  That is another yes-no question.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: Again, the report states that.  I do not want to confuse any of my per-
sonal views with what the report states, which is why I am answering in this strange way, but 
absolutely, it is a policy issue.

Senator  Colette Kelleher: It is not strange.  I ask Mr. Conlon to bear with my line of 
questioning.  Does he accept what the working group has been told in the consultation by the 
Start doctors, the Irish College of General Practitioners, the Irish Family Planning Association 
and others, that is, that in Ireland today there are very real barriers to women accessing the best 
and most effective contraceptives during their fertile and reproductive lives?  In Mr. Conlon’s 
opening statement he said the notion that there is a sizeable affordability challenge across the 
population in accessing contraception remains unproven.  Who does he believe?  Does he be-
lieve the IFPA, the doctors or the Irish College of General Practitioners, or does he have an 
alternative view?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: The answer is “both”.  The data in the report come from the Irish con-
traception and crisis pregnancy, ICCP, survey of 2010, which highlighted that, I think, 12% of 
people had difficulty accessing contraception and 3% of respondents identified costs.  I will say 
straight away that the position is much more complex than that 3% figure suggests.  There is a 
distinction, which the report tried to make, between a whole-of-population basis and particular 
cohorts of people, in particular individuals whom front-line practitioners see.  It is not an either-
or; it is a matter of trying to present that whole picture.

Senator  Colette Kelleher: Does Mr. Conlon have any view about the unfairness of sin-
gling out contraceptives, which he agreed at the beginning were fundamental to women exercis-
ing their health and reproductive rights and preventing unwanted pregnancies?  Does he think 
it is unfair that contraceptives should have to be bought or means-tested?  For example, when a 
number of years ago I went to get my Mirena coil inserted, I had to pay for it and bring it with 
me.  When people go into hospital to get stents or pacemakers put in, do they have to bring them 
with them in boxes?  Why is contraception singled out in this way when it comes to women’s 
health?

What is the rationale for using general arguments such as opportunity costs?  There are op-
portunity costs with any form of public expenditure on anything.  We will have an expenditure 
of €3 billion on the roll-out of broadband.  There are huge opportunity costs as to where that €3 
billion might otherwise be spent.  I would have a few ideas, such as childcare, home care and 
a universal system of contraceptive care.  Opportunity costs are an argument but one that does 
not apply particularly or solely in this instance.  There are always opportunity costs.  Again, 
why introduce this argument?  It is a red herring and has introduced the kinds of debates we 
have had this morning about GPs versus pharmacists and older women versus younger women 



24

JH

when, in fact, what we need to do is get on with the universal system of contraceptive care that 
was envisaged in the report of the Oireachtas Joint Committee on the Eighth Amendment of 
the Constitution.  We are now talking about tinkering instead of getting the report right.  That is 
why I am disappointed with it.  I am also disappointed with the undue delay and the direction of 
the conversation.  We need to get back to principles, including the principle that contraception 
is fundamental to women exercising their reproductive rights throughout their lives and funda-
mental for the prevention of unwanted pregnancies.  I would like to hear from Mr. Conlon how 
we can shift away from the economic debate and move back to a more rights-based conversa-
tion.  Why should I have to pay for my Mirena coil?  Why should I have to bring it with me?  
Why does this apply uniquely to contraceptive care?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: To take the specific issue of the coil, I could not agree more.  The 
report is explicit on the idea that having to buy the coil and then bring it back to the GP is an 
inconvenience, discourages people and so on.  We need to change that.  I think it only gets one 
line in the report but I had hoped that would be enough.  From the group’s point of view, that 
does not seem a sensible system to have, so I completely agree with the Senator.  I am slightly 
disappointed with the Senator’s disappointment, if I may put it that way.  I had hoped this was 
one of the messages that would come through in the report.  Again, it is explicitly stated in the 
report that it will spend a lot of time looking at economic and technical issues, but it acknowl-
edges very early in the introduction the human rights and women’s rights dimension in the 
context of the UN, the World Health Organization and so on.  It is explicit about the gendered 
financial burden, in terms of both the cost of the products and the cost of crisis pregnancy in 
financial, emotional and health terms.  The conclusion is explicit that, having gone through all 
the economic, technical and budgetary arguments, what we come back to is the rights issue, 
specifically the rights of women.  This is associated with the consistency of policy and health 
benefits.  I would have hoped women’s rights would come through strongly in the report as a 
consideration but also, more than that, a driving force in looking at and changing policy in this 
area such that it is not about economics.  The group - certainly I as the chair - did not want to 
advocate a particular course of action.  That was not our role.  Our role was to inform debates, 
provide evidence and identify policy options.  I had hoped we had been successful in doing that.  
I take the point that the bulk of the report is about the technical side of budgets and budget man-
agement that reflects the practical concerns.  I certainly would not want that to take away from 
that fundamental issue of rights.  As a group of civil servants, however, we believe those ques-
tions of rights and so on are very much in the domain of political decisions for the Oireachtas, 
the Minister, the Government and so on.  All we were trying to do was inform debate.  What the 
report in some way suggests is a slight warning.  Looking at this economically, as Deputy Don-
nelly has hinted at, it is hoped we can bring down the current figure, which stands at between 
€80 million and €100 million.  It is multi-year and expensive.

Senator  Colette Kelleher: That figure seems to be moving, even today, so I do not know if 
we can base anything concrete on those estimates because there is a big difference between €80 
million and €100 million.  There was also a figure of €70 million.  That does not seem to be a 
firm figure on which we can hang our hats.  As I said, this still takes us to the economic conver-
sation.  Any public expenditure has opportunity costs, and any movement from a means-tested 
or paid-for scheme will have displacement costs.  My concern is to place those at the centre of 
the argument.  The centrality of the argument is that we get a universal, publicly funded scheme 
that is comprehensive and supports women throughout their fertile lives.  The cost is important, 
but it is secondary to those principles.  That is the point and feedback I wished to give to Mr. 
Conlon.
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Mr. Andrew Conlon: I appreciate the feedback.  I had hoped that is what the report had 
done.  It is unfortunate if the drafting or writing has not emphasised that enough.  I and the 
group do not disagree in any way with the fundamental importance of the women’s health rights 
perspective on this issue.

Dr. Mary Short: I am no economist but I have read the report as well.  On page 19, it states 
that the cost of rolling out a service is only 0.6% of the overall current health spend.  That ap-
pears to be very little when there are 1 million women, which is approximately one fifth of the 
population, in their reproductive health years.  The cost is very small.  Also, on a gender equal-
ity basis, we provide free condoms to men who have sex with men and they get prophylaxis 
medication before they have sex and afterwards, yet we are fighting over a choice of contracep-
tive for women that can last five to ten years.  It will lead to healthier women with options on 
when to have their children, when to space their families and when to limit their families.  It 
bodes well for a society that can look after its future and its couples in their reproductive years.

Chairman: I have some comments and questions.  At the start of the meeting, Deputy Don-
nelly said it makes no sense to provide free abortion if one does not provide free contraception.  
This time last year we were in the middle of a very emotive and intense debate on the legisla-
tion that would underpin the repeal of the eighth amendment.  At every opportunity the Minister 
emphasised the fact that not only was free abortion going to be introduced on 1 January, and 
there was a major push to have it done by 1 January, but also that there would be provision of 
free contraception.  However, there appears to be a push back now.  It is a year later and there 
has been no progress on introducing a scheme of free contraception for women.  When will we 
see such a scheme being delivered in Ireland?  The report mentions 2021.  Is that realistic?

Mr. Andrew Conlon: That is the Minister’s policy objective.  As I mentioned previously, 
and I hate to repeat myself, detailed policy work, legislative work and nailing down the cost 
must be done.  There must be a period of time to do the work and as that more detailed work is 
done, we become more informed on the cost, possible issues we have not foreseen and so forth.  
The Minister has been clear on his policy direction and objective and, hopefully, the working 
group has contributed to that.  If we look at this as a preliminary appraisal in public spending 
code terms, plus a little more to do with consultation, that is probably the best way of looking 
at this report.  Work is ongoing.  I appreciate it appears to be under the surface, but a great deal 
of work is being done and it is represented in this report.

Chairman: Cost appears to be one of the fundamental barriers to rolling out a scheme.  
There was no cost barrier to rolling out free access to termination of pregnancy, but there seems 
to be a cost barrier to rolling out free access to contraception.  There is no argument in principle 
about the availability of free contraception.  It seems to be about cost.

Mr. Andrew Conlon: The order of costs is different.  The context of this issue is different 
as well.  There is an issue with cost that we need to resolve.  We must be practical about this.  
Unfortunately, it is not just a decision for officials or, indeed, the Minister.  We would have to 
engage with the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform, the Cabinet and the Oireachtas.  
Cost is a factor and that is one of the benefits of this report.  I am eager to add a caveat to that 
figure and the Department will try to reduce it, but giving us an estimate for the cost we might 
be facing is useful and helpful.

Chairman: To return to the point, the Minister in his enthusiasm to deliver termination of 
pregnancy emphasised, on delivering it, that free contraception would be made available to the 
population.  However, the Department is not delivering on that purely because of cost.
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Mr. Andrew Conlon: I would not say we are not delivering because the work is being done 
and needed to be done.  What this report has done is highlight cost as a barrier.  The public 
consultation and evidence based analysis of the policy are reasonable and fairly standard steps 
we take when bringing a policy through.  This report is moving the Minister’s commitment 
forward.

Chairman: I will turn to more practical matters.  Deputy O’Reilly raised the issue of practice 
nurses being involved in the delivery of contraceptive services.  Increasingly, practice nurses 
are playing an expanded role in general practice.  It is often the practice nurse who would have 
a consultation with women about contraception, perhaps more than the general practitioner.  If 
it is a male general practitioner, women are likely to engage with the practice nurse before they 
would engage with the GP.  They have a huge role.  Is the college running courses in respect of 
practice nurses being nurse prescribers for contraception?

Dr. Mary Short: The college is working with the practice nurses’ organisation to set up a 
diploma course and all those things will be covered.  At present, the relationship of the practice 
nurse is with the GP and the service the practice nurse provides is through the general practitio-
ner.  The insurance costs are through the general practitioner as well.

Chairman: With regard to nurses having a nurse prescriber role, is that through the college 
or through other agencies?

Dr. Mary Short: I am sorry, but I cannot answer that question as I do not know the answer.

Chairman: In my experience with contraception and prescribing the pill to young women, 
the reasons they do not take it are fear of putting on weight, mood alteration and not remem-
bering to take it, which is a common issue.  How does one address that with regard to educa-
tion?  Obviously, they would be offered alternative methods of contraception and long-acting 
contraception if they cannot manage to take or tolerate oral contraception.  It is one of the main 
reasons young women discontinue taking it.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: On the first part of your question, we, as health professionals, and 
the HSE have a role in actively dispelling many of the myths about contraception.  People will 
tell one that absolutely everything that has happened to them since the day they started taking 
the pill is related to the pill.  We must actively say it is not from the pill, that it does not hap-
pen and give them the real information.  There are other issues.  One can meet somebody who 
never forgot her pill.  Then she had a planned pregnancy and now that she has a toddler the pill 
must be put in the press with the door closed and she forgets to take it.  It is recognising differ-
ent things that occur in people’s lives at different times.  There are people who do a great deal 
of travelling for work.  The pill is not ideal for them and one must talk to them about that.  It is 
about having a holistic conversation at the start.

Also, when somebody comes for a check-up it is not just about the person’s blood pressure 
and weight.  One must ask, “Do you ever forget your pills?” or “Do you find it easy to remem-
ber to take it?”  If she replies that she would never forget it or it happens once in a blue moon, 
that is fine, but she could reply that probably most months she will have at least a scare where 
she thinks she has forgotten it.  That is the time to have a conversation about whether something 
else is more appropriate and when one wants the choice to be there to switch to the most ap-
propriate thing at the time.

Dr. Mary Short: On compliance, we are looking at using pills continuously and using dif-
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ferent regimes rather than the traditional 21 days on-seven days off which always has a failure 
rate attaching to it if the packet is not finished or another pack is started later.  It improves com-
pliance enormously if women can take the pills continuously.  That is also part of the ongoing 
education about any medication.

Chairman: Are there barriers to access to tubal ligation now?  I understand that some gyn-
aecologists no longer do tubal ligations for fear of the failure rate, that they may be open to liti-
gation.  There are other ethical considerations on its availability.  What is the situation on this?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: One of the biggest issues on tubal ligation is the gynaecology 
waiting list.  There is such a long wait to see a gynaecologist and this is not an issue where it 
is possibly cancer, it is an elective procedure, therefore these people will never be high priority 
in a gynaecology waiting list.  One might face a wait of over a year to see a gynaecologist to 
discuss having a tubal ligation and another year waiting for the procedure.  When someone asks 
about it we would go through what is involved and if they are in the public system, how long 
they are likely to have to wait, that they will need some other contraception in the meantime.  A 
Merina coil or Implanon is at least as effective, if not more so, than tubal ligation.  Tubal liga-
tion numbers have dropped since the use of long-acting reversible contraceptives.  If a woman 
is paying for it, she will probably find a gynaecologist and have it done but on a public list, they 
will need to use a different method for quite a long time.

Chairman: On education, and education in schools, are there any barriers to ethical objec-
tions to sex education in some schools?  Is it difficult to introduce programmes to schools which 
may have an ethical objection?

Ms Kate O’Flaherty: I do not have the details to hand but the interim reports on the con-
sultation of the very comprehensive review being undertaken by the National Council for Cur-
riculum Assessment, NCCA, which was alluded to in the original recommendation of the joint 
committee, recognise that various factors must be taken into account regarding the views of 
parents and in line with school ethos, etc.  The NCCA looks at how those issues can be resolved.  
It is an issue, although anecdotally, it may be a decreasing issue.  It does not relate to a single 
religious outlook, but there may be other considerations.  It also goes back to the point of edu-
cating adults and giving parents the language.  People may often have reservations, for want of 
a better word, as to what is age appropriate for their children.  On the resources being devel-
oped by the HSE in consultation and collaboration with education, teachers and young people, 
the most important thing is that we have clear, factual, evidence-based information which is 
available at an age-appropriate level.  A key part of that is being able to work with teachers in 
schools to train teachers who teach SPHE and sex education in the confidence and skills to be 
able to talk to teenagers in particular around those issues.  That is something that often comes 
up around the comfort and confidence that adults have in having those discussions and support-
ing the young people in their skills and so on.  The Department of Health’s policy perspective 
is that all young people would have access to factual information and supports and resources to 
help them make those informed decisions.  We also have a commitment to support their parents, 
teachers and youth workers in their work to help the young people to take that knowledge on 
board, answer their questions and ensure that they can make informed choices as adults.  It is 
very important that we have a consistent evidence-based approach among ourselves and other 
partners working together.

Chairman: On sex education in schools, is it in-house provided by teachers from within the 
school or is provided by outside groups who come to the school?
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Ms Kate O’Flaherty: Dr. Short might have some other detail, but I understand that it would 
be SHPE teachers.  As part of their overall curriculum on health and wellbeing schools may 
invite people with expert knowledge in to add to the SPHE curriculum.  The Department of 
Education and Skills provided particular instructions, supported by us, on the types of people 
that would come in and the type of information that would be given across other topics as well 
as sex education.  It may be an issue examined by the NCCA review.  The skills and confidence 
of teachers teaching SPHE and sex education in particular is something we need to support, 
no more than parents, in order to provide young people with a comfortable environment to be 
open, take up the knowledge, ask the questions that they have and get the factual information.

Chairman: Does Deputy Kelly have any questions?

Deputy  Alan Kelly: My questions have been covered.  I share some concerns that Senator 
Kelleher eloquently outlined on what I expected from the report and what was actually in it.  I 
encourage those present to bear in mind some of the comments from my colleagues but par-
ticular those of Senator Kelleher around those concerns.  I had thought the report would focus 
in and be more proactive.  Mr. Conlon might take the comments on board.  He referred to some 
parts that he may have covered but which were understated in the report.  That might be some-
thing that we need to change and dial-up in the future on implementation.

Chairman: On behalf of the committee I thank Ms. O’Flaherty, Ms O’Brien, Mr. Conlon, 
Dr. Henchion, and Dr. Mary Short, for coming before the committee and for their evidence.

 Sitting suspended at 11.17 a.m. and resumed at 11.40 a.m. 

Update on Construction of National Children’s Hospital: National Paediatric Hospital 
Development Board

Chairman: We will now receive an update on the development of the national paediatric 
hospital at the St. James’s campus.  I welcome Mr. Fred Barry, chairman; Mr. David Gunning, 
chief officer; Mr. Phelim Devine, project director; and Dr. Emma Curtis, medical director, Na-
tional Paediatric Hospital Development Board.

 I draw the attention of the witnesses to the fact that by virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the 
Defamation Act 2009, they are protected by absolute privilege in respect of their evidence to 
the committee.  However, if they are directed by the committee to cease giving evidence on 
a particular matter and they continue to so do, they are entitled thereafter only to a qualified 
privilege in respect of the evidence.  They are directed that only evidence connected with the 
subject matter of these proceedings is to be given and are asked to respect the parliamentary 
practice to the effect that, where possible, they should not criticise or make charges against any 
person, persons or entity by name or in such a way as to make him, her or it identifiable.  Any 
opening statements made to the committee may be published on the committee’s website after 
this meeting.

Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they 
should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the House or an of-
ficial either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.

I call Mr. Barry to make his opening statement.
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Mr. Fred Barry: I thank the committee for inviting us to provide an update on the construc-
tion of the new children’s hospital.  I am joined by Mr. David Gunning, chief officer; Dr. Emma 
Curtis, medical director; and Mr. Phelim Devine, project director of the development board.

The NPHDB was appointed in 2013 to design, build and equip the new children’s hospital.  
A planning application was lodged in 2015 and An Bord Pleánala granted planning permission 
in 2016 for the new children’s hospital and the two paediatric outpatient and urgent care centres.  
One of those is complete and operational at Connolly Hospital in Blanchardstown and a second 
is under construction at Tallaght University Hospital.

Since I appeared before the committee last June, there have been a number of changes in 
leadership and project governance.  Following a competitive process overseen by the Public 
Appointments Service, PAS, Mr. David Gunning was appointed chief officer in September and 
Mr. Phelim Devine was appointed project director in October.  We have also added to the ca-
pabilities of the project team by engaging expertise in a number of areas.  We have reorganised 
the board committee structure to focus our attention on what will be our critical challenges over 
the coming years.  As a result of the resignation of a number of board members this year, there 
are vacancies on the board.  These positions were advertised via the PAS and we understand 
a shortlist of potential candidates will be submitted to the Minister in December.  We report 
to the children’s hospital project and programme steering group on a monthly basis, provid-
ing comprehensive updates on all aspects of the project, and we also report to the project and 
programme board.  We continue to work closely with the relevant officials in the Department 
of Health and our colleagues in the HSE, as well as with our colleagues in Children’s Health 
Ireland.

Those members who have had the opportunity to visit the site of the new children’s hos-
pital, or anybody who has passed the site recently, will have seen the progress that has been 
achieved in construction.  Across the 12 acre site, the excavation, piling and the structural 
frame to the underground basement for campus-wide facilities management, energy centre and 
the 1,000-space underground car park are nearing completion and the first window has been 
installed in the hospital.  Well over 1 million sq. ft of slabs have been poured.  Mr. Gunning will 
give some further detail on the construction shortly.  The outpatient and urgent care centre at 
Connolly Hospital in Blanchardstown was handed over to our colleagues in Children’s Health 
Ireland for operational commissioning earlier this year and services have commenced there 
since we last came before the committee.

On cost, the committee will undoubtedly recall that the Government authorised the devel-
opment board to proceed with the main construction works late last year, following agreement 
on a guaranteed maximum price, GMP, with the main contractor.  The investment decision 
approved at the time was exclusive of residual risks, as was communicated at the time of ap-
proval.  These exceptions were also set out within the PricewaterhouseCoopers, PwC, report 
published in April this year.  As pointed out by PwC, some of these risks are under our control 
and some are not, and we are actively managing those under our control while monitoring those 
that are not.  One example relates to contractor claims.  Contractor claims are a feature of most 
construction contracts, big and small, including this one.  We are organised to ensure timely 
and evidenced responses to claims as they arise and are defending the public interest robustly.  
Contractor claims have not had a material impact on the GMP to date.

 I will hand over to our recently appointed chief officer, Mr. David Gunning, who will intro-
duce himself and provide some more detail on the construction update.
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Mr. David Gunning: I thank the Chairman and members of the committee.  This is my first 
time to address the committee so I am thankful for the opportunity to introduce myself.  I have 
met quite a few members before in other roles but I am delighted to be here wearing the hat of 
the chief officer of the NPHDB.

During my career to date, I have worked in Ireland and internationally.  For approximately 
20 years, I delivered large-scale and complex projects around the globe in positions of increas-
ing responsibility with leading multinational companies.  The projects were typically regional 
and national telecommunications networks.  The scope of these projects included product de-
sign and development, network design, network build, commissioning and service delivery.  I 
started my career as an Army officer, serving for almost ten years in the communications and 
information services corps in the Defence Forces.  I am an electrical engineer by profession and 
hold a master’s degree in business administration.

In 2006, I was appointed chief executive officer of the State-owned company, Coillte 
Teoranta, which I led until 2013.  My latest role before taking on this position was in healthcare 
as chief executive of the Royal Hospital in Donnybrook, where I had previously served on the 
board as a non-executive director.  It is my intention to use the leadership, project delivery and 
contract management experience I have accumulated through the years over the course of my 
career to lead effectively the national paediatric hospital executive team and the broader team 
in this very significant project.

I have been in the role since mid-September and have spent more than two months familia-
rising myself with all the various strands of the project and getting to know the project stake-
holders.  This is one of those important stakeholder events.  As Mr. Barry said, we have also 
made some operational and organisational changes to help strengthen our team and improve our 
governance and reporting structures.  I fully subscribe to the vision for this hospital, which is to 
create one of the finest children’s hospitals in the world.  It is a challenging project but one that 
will have a profound impact on the children, young people and families that it will serve.  Since 
starting, I have been very impressed by the passion and motivation of the broad team involved 
in delivering this significant project.

I will provide a brief construction update and we have included some images in our presen-
tation.  I am sure many members have either been to, or passed, the site.  To the south west of 
the site, opposite the South Circular Road, the frame to the finger blocks containing the out-
patient departments, cardiology wards, therapy and play areas are completed to the south east.  
The structural frame containing the outpatient clinical decontamination unit, radiology, critical 
care and the theatres is also nearing completion.  The frame supporting the fourth-floor garden 
to the south of the building is partially complete and sections of the ward block from levels 4 to 
6 have commenced.  The mechanical and electrical fit-out of the plant areas is well progressed.  
The fit-out of the outpatients department is due to commence shortly. 

The north side of the site has come out of the ground to reach ground level, and the north 
fingers containing the overnight accommodation for outpatients’ parents, the hospital school 
and the public restaurant are on level 1.  The main campus access road, the U-shaped road com-
ing into St. James’s Hospital from the right-hand side of the photograph now being displayed, 
is now in a permanent position around the perimeter of the site.  I refer to the access road from 
the South Circular Road into the site.

I will now show a couple of photographs.  I direct members to the red writing in the centre 
of the first image.  Basement 2, basement 1, the lower ground floor, ground level, level 1, level 
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2 and level 3 are all constructed in this area.  For clarity, another three levels will go on top of 
level 4.  These will contain the ward blocks in an oval-shaped building sitting on top.  This view 
looks towards the west from the old access road.

I am now showing a view along the old South Circular Road entrance with which people 
will be familiar.  It shows the fingers going from left to right.  We can show the cardiology out-
patient department, the surgical wards and the work spaces.  The haematology and oncology 
department is on the left with more wards in the background.  Members will notice that scaf-
folding is in place on all of this building in order to commence the construction of the cladding 
and the facade.  Someone passing by on the South Circular Road will see quite a lot of change 
in the very near future.  

I am now showing an image of the outpatient facilities in the north hot block.  Again, mul-
tiple levels have scaffolding in place and are ready for cladding.  

I am now showing the view from close to our offices in Rialto.  This view is from near the 
Rialto Luas stop, looking north into the hospital.  This will be part of the outpatients depart-
ment.

While the concrete and steel frame is still under way, some of the mechanical and electri-
cal service installation that has already happened can be seen in this photograph.  The lagged 
pipes on the left side of the image correspond to the steam room.  The fire protection, in the 
form of the sprinkler systems and other red-painted installations, is visible in the middle of the 
photograph.  Members will also notice lots of places for baskets and other cable trays for further 
mechanical and electrical installations that have to go in.  On the right of the picture one can see 
a large number of air handling units which have already been installed.  They will condition the 
environment and ventilate the system.

I am now showing basement car park level B1.  This is at an advanced stage of construction.  
There is not much more to be done in this area other than securing it completely and weather-
proofing it once the whole building is enclosed.  

In the centre of the photograph I am now showing members will see the cupola of the Royal 
Hospital, Kilmainham on the horizon.  This is the view through an area which forms the main 
street through the hospital.  There are buildings on the left and right.  That will remain but it will 
be covered by a roof and by other buildings on top.  

I have covered most of the areas.  I would like to make two more points.  Sustainability is a 
question that has come up in the past.  The energy performance of the building is an extremely 
important factor in the design of the new hospital.  We are targeting an “excellent” rating under 
the BRE environmental assessment method, BREEAM.  This is the highest rating we can seek 
to achieve.  That corresponds to a building energy rating, BER, of A3.  Achieving this will allow 
a 60% or 70% reduction in the energy consumed in children’s hospitals.  These are large spaces 
that are expensive to heat.  

As Mr. Barry mentioned, the outpatient and urgent care centres at Connolly Hospital 
Blanchardstown are now delivering services.  This is making a positive impact on children’s 
lives.  Almost 2,000 children have attended the urgent care centre and 1,000 outpatient appoint-
ments have taken place at the centre in Blanchardstown.  Again, the images do not adequately 
convey the scale and scope of what we are doing.  On behalf of the board, I invite the committee 
members to visit the hospital at their convenience.  We would be more than delighted to facili-
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tate their visit.  I thank the members for their time and for allowing me to introduce myself.  I 
look forward to the discussion. 

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I thank the witnesses for their time and for the presentation.  I 
congratulate Mr. Gunning on the tough role he has taken up.  There is a lot of heat attached to 
it and a lot of people are watching.  I genuinely wish him the very best.  I ask him to excuse the 
directness of the question, as it is relevant to his role and to this hospital.  When he outlined his 
experience I did not see any experience in building hospitals or major buildings.  Was that an 
omission?  Has Mr. Gunning led the construction of a major hospital in the past?  Has he led the 
construction of other major building projects?  He referenced telecoms but I am asking specifi-
cally about buildings rather than engineering or communications networks.

Mr. David Gunning: I have not worked in the construction sector to any great extent during 
my career.  My experience is in large and complex projects of a different type.  There is a lot of 
similarity.  I have had some experience in construction.  During my time as chief executive of 
Coillte we built a large portfolio of wind farms.  Members will be aware of that.  We also built 
about 150 telecoms mast sites as part of the first broadband effort.  My experience is in large-
scale projects but my appointment here is really intended to bring leadership experience to the 
team.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I thank Mr. Gunning.  I would like to move onto the issue of 
costs, which has obviously been one of the big issues with this project.  Just last night I received 
a response to a parliamentary question from the Minister for Health, Deputy Harris.  I had asked 
for an update on the potential future overruns.  This project started at €650 million and it has 
now reached €1.733 billion.  At least five separate categories of additional cost risk have been 
discussed by this committee, namely, inflation, contractor claims, changes to regulations or 
taxes, design changes and delays.  All of those risks have potential cost implications.  I did not 
expect the Minister to update me on the absolute costs.  I fully understand that we do not know 
because these are moving targets.  However the people running any major project, certainly 
a capital project like this, have provisional estimates of these potential costs.  The work must 
be proceeding on the basis of some provisional sums, which of course encompass a range of 
potential figures.

The Minister said last night that there has been no change to the figure advised to Govern-
ment, that is, €1.4 billion or €1.733 billion.  He said the board has not advised him of any ad-
ditional costs.  He went on to state “As the National Paediatric Hospital Development Board 
(NPHDB) has statutory responsibility for planning, designing, building and equipping the new 
children’s hospital, I have referred the further parts of your question to the NPHDB for direct 
reply.”

Here we now are.  I would love a direct reply.  In terms of the five categories and, indeed, 
any other categories, what is the current best estimate as to what the final price will be, above 
the €1.4 billion that has already been advised?  

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes, I can certainly address the question.  For some of the questions I 
will be able to give very specific answers but for others I will tell the Deputy that his view of 
the future is the same as that of everybody else.  We do not know what inflation will be for the 
construction industry in two and three years’ time.  If he asks me to tell him what it is going to 
be, then I cannot but nobody else can either.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Let us just probe this matter.
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Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Mr. Barry has given that response before.  If I were on his side 
of the table I would have a better understanding of what the potential inflation exposure is.  My 
understanding would be better than the people on this side of the table because I would have 
a very detailed model, which would calculate, for likely and unlikely levels of inflation, what 
my total exposure was because I have done this.  I have been on the other side of the table and 
I have built these models from scratch.  If I worked on his team, I would be able to tell him to a 
very fine level of detail, given the most likely probabilities, plus or minus ten, 20 or 30 degrees, 
on projected inflation and we would have worked out exactly why we think inflation is going to 
do what it is going to do.  I would be able to state, at a very granular level, the likely exposure.  
Either he does not have anyone telling him that information, which is deeply worrying, or he 
has the information but feels he cannot share it.  What is going on?  Mr. Barry has stated that he 
knows as much as anybody else on this, which is an extraordinary answer.

Mr. Fred Barry: It is not an extraordinary answer.  The range of answers are already pre-
sented to this committee and were published in the PwC report, which I believe was made 
available to this committee in April of this year.  Within that report there is a range of exposures 
depending on what the levels of inflation are over the next number of years.  The range is there.  
For the Deputy to say that I should be able to tell him what the level of construction is going to 
be in three year’s time with precise detail is an unreasonable expectation.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I certainly do not.  In my old career, I would have been able to 
give those numbers.

Mr. Fred Barry: We should engage the Deputy.  Perhaps he will give the numbers to us 
now.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Is Mr. Barry honestly telling us that since the PwC report, the 
Department has done no further financial analysis on the likely financial exposure of the State 
and taxpayers to construction inflation on this project?

Mr. Fred Barry: The range of exposures, as published by PwC, was a pretty good estimate 
of the range of exposures.  There is no reason to revise the work that it has done as the range is 
there and available to everybody.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: What range did PwC give in cash terms?

Mr. Fred Barry: Just a moment, I have the report to hand.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: In the interest of time I suggest that we come back to the an-
swer.  I have questions on contractor claims.

Mr. Fred Barry: Certainly, on contractor claims.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Does Mr. Barry have a range?  I appreciate that the board is 
working very hard to minimise these claims, as it should.  Does he have a provisional sum 
against the amount the board has budgeted for that?

Mr. Fred Barry: A lot of claims have been submitted and significant claims have been 
submitted.  In or about 50% of the claims that have been submitted have, at this stage, been put 
through the determination by the employer’s representative.  The total award to the contractor 
from those claims, to date, is well less than €1 million, and that is well within the provisions we 
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have already been given by the Government, as an approved budget.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Is Mr. Barry in a position to share the figure for the total quan-
tum of claims or is that commercially sensitive?

Mr. Fred Barry: I am restricted in what I can say on claims that are in progress and that 
is why I have given a figure for claims that have been determined.  Of the ones that have been 
determined, that is about 50% of the claims that have been submitted have already been deter-
mined.  I have heard some extraordinary figures mentioned externally as to where we may end 
up on claims but the total to date is less than €1 million.  I know that €1 million is a lot of money 
but in the context of what we are doing here, I will say that is within the budget provisions that 
we have been given by the Government.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I have three questions on regulations, taxes and statutory is-
sues.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes, but they are more in the hands of politicians.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Yes, they are.  Since the figure of €1.433 billion was given, 
have there been changes to the regulations or are there statutory issues that will increase the 
cost?

Mr. Fred Barry: No.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Since the figure of €1.433 billion was given, have there been 
any design changes that could increase the cost?

Mr. Fred Barry: No.  In terms of part of what we are doing in managing the costs, as the 
construction documentation has been issued by the design team, it has been closely vetted to 
ensure that the design, as it is being issued for construction, is consistent with the design as 
was used to negotiate the guaranteed maximum price.  Of course, as design develops there are 
bits and pieces of changes as things move around but there have been no changes that have any 
significant impact on the costs.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: What about delays?

Mr. Fred Barry: The Deputy has seen the progress that has been made.  We would like if 
more progress had been made.  We have got three years to go until the end of 2022 so there is 
plenty of time for the contractor to go from where he is.  I am sure the Deputy will have been 
impressed with the level of progress already.  Delays do not arise at this stage.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I appreciate that we do not know what the future will hold.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: At this point in the project there are not costs associated with 
delays.

Mr. Fred Barry: There are not.  I would say the construction is a little behind where we 
would like it to be.  That is certainly the case and I think I reported this at an earlier presenta-
tion.  That has not changed.  I am also looking forward and thinking that with three years to go, 
we have got some very big players working on the construction and they have the capability of 
recovering that time.



27 NOVEMBER 2019

35

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I have questions on the design itself but they have nothing to 
do with the change of design.  The Coombe maternity hospital was meant to be relocated.  We 
were told in 2015 that it would be relocated in parallel with the children’s hospital but, clearly, 
that has not happened.  The design has not even begun of the new maternity hospital.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I have spoken at some length with obstetricians and people 
working in the maternity services.  What they have said is that the physical co-design mat-
ters greatly.  For example, a corridor through which one can very quickly get mothers into the 
adult hospital and babies into the children’s hospital is very important.  Does Mr. Barry know 
whether the children’s hospital has been designed with a view to where the maternity hospital 
is likely to be with a view to making sure that all of those connections can be put in place when 
the maternity hospital is built?

Mr. Fred Barry: Mr. Devine will respond.

Mr. Phelim Devine: Yes, is the answer.  At the early stages of the design of the hospital, 
and before we went into planning, we had designed in all of those future links back to the fu-
ture maternity hospital.  The critical link is between critical care and the delivery suites of the 
maternity hospital back into the neonatal intensive care unit, NICU, in the children’s hospital.  
That link is provided for, for the future.

We have also provided future links into a redeveloped St. James’s Hospital at level 3.  There 
is also an facilities management, FM, link to provide shared services linkages between the 
children’s hospital, St. James’s Hospital and the future maternity hospital because we are using 
specialist robots to transport materials around the site.   

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Putting the specialist robots aside for a second, will there be a 
corridor or physical link for mothers and babies?

Mr. Phelim Devine: A direct corridor will be built between the children’s hospital and the 
future maternity hospital.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Does that include the adult hospital?

Mr. Phelim Devine: Yes, and to the adult hospital.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Great.

Chairman: Does the Deputy have one more question?

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Yes.  We are all aware of the cancellation of elective proce-
dures in the three children’s hospitals at the moment and I will outline one of my concerns.  The 
new children’s hospital is not providing many more beds.  The figure given to the committee 
before was that there would be an extra ten beds or something but that is very few.  I have a real 
concern that when this beautiful new facility is opened, because we do not have any more beds 
but a growing population the ratio of beds to children may go down.  In other words, the next 
time there is a virus outbreak, the emergency department will fill up and, again, the new chil-
dren’s hospital would have to start cancelling elective procedures, which would be a disaster.  
One way that this is being dealt with in modern hospital design is to physically separate elective 
and non-elective care so that when the  emergency department must deal with an emergency, 
a major trauma incident or the outbreak of a virus that the elective and non-elective work is 
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separate.  At Tallaght Hospital, the elective facilities that are being built are physically separate 
from non-elective facilities.  Was there consideration of that issue in the design of the national 
children’s hospital?

Dr. Emma Curtis: When the new children’s hospital was being designed, several factors 
were taken into account.  There was a significant amount of activity on capacity analysis, in-
volving looking at the current children’s hospitals activity as well as talking into account cur-
rent unmet need and waiting times, which are very significant and, in some cases, breach HSE 
guidelines.  There was also consideration of developments in care and different and more ef-
ficient and effective ways of delivering care.  Although the bed numbers are not substantially 
different, they are based on calculated activity, which included looking at CSO projections for 
child populations well into the future, as well as an increase in day care beds.  Account was 
taken of the fact that an increasing proportion of children who have a day care procedure car-
ried out will not need an extended inpatient admission.  In the past, such procedures might 
have required an inpatient bed.  There is provision for a day of surgery admission, DOSA, unit, 
whereby a well child, who is anticipated will have an inpatient stay, will be admitted on the day 
and not beforehand.  We are developing that within our current facilities and a dedicated DOSA 
reception unit will be built in the new children’s hospital in addition to the 93 day care beds and 
the inpatient bed provision.

A matter in respect of which we have looked at international models, and which fits in with 
the Deputy’s observations regarding Tallaght Hospital, is that there are two dedicated emer-
gency theatres within our theatre provision.  That means that if an emergency comes in, it will 
not dislodge a planned elective procedure, which is what currently happens.  That is a critical 
part of general and trauma emergency provision.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: It is welcome that there is protected operating theatre space.  
Are there also protected beds?  In other hospitals, ward beds which are needed for post-op elec-
tive care are getting filled up due to an influx of patients into emergency departments and the 
increase in admissions.  Many surgeries, including in children’s hospitals, are being cancelled 
because there is no ward bed available for after the operation rather than because there is no 
operating theatre available.  Are some of the beds protected and physically separated along the 
lines of the operating theatres?

Dr. Emma Curtis: There are a couple of areas in which we have addressed that issue.  On 
the inpatient ward population, we are separating specialist tertiary care from secondary general 
care.  Two wards will be used for high turnover rapid admission inpatient stay.  One of the major 
differences between paediatric and adult care is that many of the children we see are fundamen-
tally healthy but have contracted an intercurrent illness which requires admission.  They re-
cover quite quickly from the illness.  We have two wards dedicated to this high turnover patient 
population.  They will be very consultant intensive.  We have developed a general paediatric 
model which involves an expansion in general paediatric consultant workforce.  That is already 
under way.  This patient population would spread through other beds in the current hospitals, 
but it will be provided for in this dedicated intensive high-turnover acute-illness section of the 
new hospital.  In one way, that protects tertiary national beds and elective care beds.

We are also addressing the intensive care department.  One of the causes of cancelled pro-
cedures is the availability of intensive care beds.  As this will be the only intensive care unit in 
the country for children and young people, it has significantly greater capacity than is currently 
available, which will offer protection in that regard.  There are several initiatives within our 
planning that are different from the way we currently run services and will stop the cancelling 
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of elective procedures due to emergencies.  We are separating the streams and working differ-
ently in the way we designate the need for beds, as well as bringing in initiatives around general 
paediatrics to ensure that specialist elective care continues at all times in spite of what are pre-
dictable peaks and falls in unplanned care.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: I thank the representatives for their attendance and the report 
which has been provided.  Reference was made to personnel changes.  The committee has 
previously discussed the convoluted nature of the children’s hospital committees and how they 
interacted.  I acknowledge that efforts were made to refine that system a little.  Who are the 
people on the finance committee?  When did they join the committee?  What is their relevant 
experience?  I am not seeking a massive amount of detail.

Mr. David Gunning: I will answer at least part of the Deputy’s question.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: I would like to think Mr. Gunning could answer all of it.

Mr. David Gunning: A very clear governance framework is in place.  The executive re-
ports to the National Paediatric Hospital Development Board.  We meet the children’s hospital 
project and programme steering group on a monthly basis.  We present quarterly reports to the 
children’s hospital project and programme board which is chaired by the Secretary General of 
the Department of Health and of which the chief executive of the HSE is a member.  Between 
those set-piece activities we have a significant amount of stakeholder interaction with the De-
partment and its officials, as well as officials of the HSE.  I wish to emphasise our ongoing 
dialogue with Children’s Health Ireland which shares our building, where we have a significant 
amount of interaction.

On the governance framework, there is a significant degree of governance across all aspects 
of the project, of which finance is a component.  Mr. Barry referred to the rearrangement of 
the board committees.  As the Deputy is aware, we are recruiting board members.  The skill set 
required in order to fill some of these vacancies includes in the finance area, administration, 
project management and other skills to which reference has been made.  Our board members 
are very accomplished, but we currently have a reduced number of members.  The finance com-
mittee meets monthly.  We present to it from an executive perspective.  We are in the process of 
merging it with the audit committee.  In my experience, there is a significant degree of interac-
tion between the executive and the finance committee on all matters relating to the project.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Who is on the finance committee?  I do not need to know their 
names, but I wish to know their qualifications.

Mr. Fred Barry: Members of the board.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: The finance committee is-----

Mr. Fred Barry: For example, the chair of the audit risk and finance committee is an 
accountant with significant hospital experience.  Other members of the committee are board 
members.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: The committee is made up of board members.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Does it take advice from outside sources on finance?
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Mr. Fred Barry: Mazars is our internal auditor and we turn to it if we have questions on 
finance.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Mazars is the adviser.  Mr. Gunning stated that the finance com-
mittee meets monthly.  Obviously, it feeds in as part of the still somewhat convoluted structure.

Mr. Fred Barry: It feeds into the board.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: What is the level of involvement of the Minister, Deputy Harris?

Mr. Fred Barry: I brief the Minister on developments and provide updates on the project.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: How regularly does that happen?

Mr. Fred Barry: It varies.  In some periods, I talk to him on a regular basis.  There may be 
a gap.  The meetings are not fixed; whenever something is going on, I brief him on it.  I most 
recently met him last week.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Is a minute taken of those meetings?

Mr. Fred Barry: I do not take a minute of them.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Mr. Barry attends the meetings.  Does somebody take minutes 
and circulate them afterwards?

Mr. Fred Barry: It varies.  Some of the meetings involve just the two of us; others are min-
uted.  I do not take minutes of the meetings.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Does Mr. Barry not think it would be important to minute those 
meetings if he is briefing the Minister?  This is a very high-profile project.

Mr. Fred Barry: Indeed.  The Minister may well have them minuted.  I am not saying he 
does not.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: I am asking Mr. Barry if he would not think it important to min-
ute those meetings.

Mr. Fred Barry: I have no concerns about the arrangements.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Okay.  Mr. Barry meets the Minister as and when required.  Is 
it at the Minister’s request or at Mr. Barry’s?  How does it happen?  Mr. Barry has said there 
are no scheduled meetings.  I do not know how it is arranged or who requests it.  If no formal 
arrangements are in place-----

Mr. Fred Barry: It would be at either one’s request.  The Minister has often asked me to 
come in and I have asked to speak to the Minister.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Does the Minister attend any of the board meetings?  Does he 
receive an update from those?  Does Mr. Barry give them as and when required?

Mr. Fred Barry: Although I do not know this directly, myself, I expect that Mr. Jim Bres-
lin, who chairs the children’s hospital project and programme, CHP&P, board, would brief the 
Minister directly.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Mr. Barry expects that Mr. Jim Breslin would brief the Minister 
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directly on all operational matters on a day-to-day basis.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.  When I meet the Minister, I often meet Mr. Jim Breslin at the same 
time, as I did last week.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Okay.  Would that meeting be minuted given that it would be a 
very important meeting with the Secretary General of the Department?

Mr. Fred Barry: As I have said, I am not taking minutes of these meetings.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: With the greatest of respect, I would not expect Mr. Barry to be 
sitting there with his shorthand notebook.  However, are the meetings minuted?  I would have 
thought it would have been important that meetings on a project of this size would be minuted 
because the Minister and the Secretary General are in attendance and these are important meet-
ings.

Mr. Fred Barry: I am not saying a word otherwise.  I have been attending meetings with 
Ministers for 15 years.  I have never taken a minute, myself.  I know many of the meetings have 
been minuted but I do not get a set of minutes afterwards.  All I am saying is that many of the 
meetings are probably minuted, but I am not keeping the minutes and I do not track what his 
Civil Service support is doing.  I presume they are doing whatever they are supposed to do for 
him.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Many people have been presuming people are doing what they 
are supposed to be doing.

Mr. Fred Barry: Sure, but it is not my job to check up on the Minister.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: I know and that is very clear.

Mr. Barry has said that to date the claims come in at less than €1 million.

Mr. Fred Barry: Awarded.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Awarded.

Mr. Fred Barry: The claims made have been of course significantly higher, but of the ones 
determined, the valuations-----

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: I have a number of questions on this.  We know that with major 
infrastructural projects the claims will continue for up to four or five years afterwards.  They 
do not all get settled as they go along as Mr. Barry would know.  In his experience are the bulk 
of the claims settled at the early stages of construction, or are they more likely to be settled 
towards the end or afterwards?

Mr. Fred Barry: What we are aiming for and how the contract is framed is that we have a 
continual process of dealing with claims as they arise.  My experience is that claims are made 
throughout the construction project and I have no expectation that this will be any different.  I 
expect that we will be dealing with claims right up to the very end.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: And even beyond the end.

Mr. Fred Barry: Usually they happen beyond the end.  Usually when it comes to final ac-
count there are barneys over money on pretty well every job I have been on.
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Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: When whoever is the Minister gets to jump out of a car to cut the 
ribbon, it might be five years from that before we get the final figure.

Mr. Fred Barry: Five years would be unusual.  Typically, at the end of substantial comple-
tion, the buildings get handed over to the children’s hospital.  At that point the contractor is not 
finished working.  He is far enough advanced to allow handover, but a lot of work continues 
after that.  That work continues on and there is a defects liability period.  The contractual period 
with the contractor will run and will probably be-----

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: The claims will obviously run and run.

Mr. Fred Barry: The claims will largely be on the table by that stage.  I would say it will be 
2024 before we get to final account.  The Deputy might be right; it may be even later.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: I suspect later.

Mr. Barry is saying that the claims settled to date amount to less than €1 million.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: While I am no engineer, my information is that at this point in 
the proceedings we would be talking about a very small level of claims settled and the bulk of 
them will not happen until closer to the end or after the final handover date.  The figure of €1 
million would not be much by way of a guide.  It is not possible to say that just because it was 
€1 million for the first year, it will be €1 million for the second or third.

Mr. Fred Barry: No.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: It is likely to be multiples of that.

Mr. Fred Barry: We do not know what it will be, in fairness.  We certainly could not say 
that because it that much this year, it will be the same next year.  The procedures under the 
contract require that claims be submitted in a fairly tight timeframe and that the employer’s 
representative addresses them within a tight timeframe.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: What is that timeframe?

Mr. Fred Barry: It is a matter of weeks and days, and that sort of thing.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: How many?

Mr. Fred Barry: We can get the Deputy the exact period.

Mr. Phelim Devine: The contract mechanism is such that the contractor must notify of a 
claim within 20 working days of recognising that he feels that there is a justification.  Within 
that 20 days they must submit substantiation for that claim.  The first 20 days is notification.  
Within 20 days they must issue substantiation.  The employer’s representative has the opportu-
nity to seek further information.  The ER then has another ten days to receive that and ten days 
to determine.  The whole cycle comes to around 40 days and then the determination is made.

Mr. Fred Barry: I am not suggesting for a minute that even though we have gone through 
this process the contractor may not come with additional claims at the end.  The contractor will 
be hard-pressed to come up with justifiable new claims at a later stage.  That is not to say they 
would not be made.  I would not suggest that for a minute, but I think-----
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Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Okay.  The 60 days Mr. Devine outlined are made up of 20, 20, 
ten and ten days.  However, Mr. Barry has said it will probably be 2024 or later.  There is a bit 
of a contradiction in that.

Mr. Fred Barry: No.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: The question I asked was about-----

Mr. Fred Barry: Sorry, no-----

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: -----at what point-----

Mr. Fred Barry: Excuse me.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: I ask Mr. Barry to let me finish this one.  At what point in the 
project do the majority of the claims arise?  Is it towards the end of the project?  At the time of 
the handover would he expect a spike in claims?  Is it immediately post handover or would he 
expect it to continue at a steady pace during the course of the project?

Mr. Fred Barry: I would expect it to continue at a steady pace.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: Therefore, we would expect the €1 million claim to be settled if 
that was to be the case.  Mr. Barry would not be expecting any major shocks out of that.

Mr. Fred Barry: Some of the claims are very big.  If we were to lose out on a very big 
claim, it could be considerably more than that.  I am not in any way saying that because we 
have had this success so far, we can extrapolate from that and be sure we will have continuing 
success at that level.  The Deputy has reasonably many questions about what is happening with 
claims and I am just reflecting back to her the experience to date.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: What percentage by value of the claims are settled?  The ques-
tion is not necessarily specific to this project but based on Mr. Barry’s experience with large-
scale infrastructural projects.  Would it be 70% of the claims?  I am talking about the value of 
claims and not the number of claims because 70% could relate to all the tiny claims or all the 
enormous ones.

Mr. Fred Barry: Indeed.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: What is Mr. Barry’s estimate of the percentage by value of the 
claims that would be settled?

Mr. Fred Barry: Without wishing to praise or disparage any individual contracting com-
pany, it depends very much on whom one is dealing with.  Some contracting companies put 
forward well-considered and justified claims.  They might get a high percentage of their claim 
values.  Other companies might put forward highly inflated claims and they might end up with 
quite a low percentage.  There is no one percentage.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I welcome the witnesses and I wish Mr. Gunning the best of luck in 
his new role.  He has achieved one thing today.  He has justified the use of these two big screens 
for the first time in my career.

Listening to the witnesses over the past half an hour, one would wonder what we have all 
been worrying about since all this blew up.  Based on what they have said it seems that every-
thing is rosy in the garden, but it is not. 
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Sometimes I wonder whether many people have read the PwC report.  I have read it in 
depth, as have most of my colleagues, and I re-read it before I came to the meeting.  A great deal 
of information in the report needs to be followed up on, which is what I want to do now.  Our 
guests will appear before the Committee of Public Accounts, of which Deputy O’Connell and 
I are members, in a couple of weeks.  I have always believed that the layers of how the project 
is being managed are insane, as was noted in a recommendation of the Committee of Public 
Accounts.  There are three layers, and there are the Department, the HSE and the Minister.  It 
is insane.  This is part of the original problem the board inherited.  It should not continue.  The 
layers need to contract.

Of the residual risks, Mr. Barry stated some are under control, while others are not, but that 
the latter are being monitored.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: The report contains two categories, one of which is divided into two 
further subcategories.  There are risks that can be controlled, and there are risks over which the 
board has some influence and risks over which the board has no control.  Since Mr. Barry joined 
the board, have risks in either of the latter two subcategories been elevated beyond what was 
outlined in the report?

Mr. Fred Barry: No.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That is clear.  Was the loss of the chief procurement officer from the 
management team board a setback?

Mr. Fred Barry: A number of board members have resigned and their resignations are a 
personal, individual matter.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I appreciate that.  I am not asking about the individual.  I will restate 
my question in case Mr. Barry needs more time to answer it.  Was the loss of the chief procure-
ment officer of Ireland, who is based in the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform and 
is no longer on the board, a loss to the project?

Mr. Fred Barry: All the board members who retired or resigned from the board gave tre-
mendous commitment to the project.  I certainly did not ask any of them to leave, and had they 
stayed, I would have welcomed that.  I say that as a general comment about all the board mem-
bers and I will not comment on any individual board member.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I will ask the question a third time.  I have not named the individual.  
Was the loss of the chief procurement officer, a significant position in the country, to the project, 
which is the largest in the country’s history?  I refer to the person’s expertise, whoever he or she 
is, given that he or she was ultimately the person in charge of the project.

Mr. Fred Barry: The expertise of all board members is welcome and useful.  While the 
Deputy stated he did not name the individual, everyone in the room knows exactly whom he 
is speaking about, and I will not address the qualities of any individual or identifiable person.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I am not asking Mr. Barry to address the qualities of any individual.  
Mr. Barry turned the question.  I do not want him to address the quality of the individual, whom 
I do not know.  Rather, I want him to address the loss of the role and all it brings.  It has a role 
in the State and was put on the board for a specific purpose, but it is no longer on the board.  It 
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will be strange if Mr. Barry fails to answer the question and states it was not a loss that the role 
is no longer on the board.

Mr. Fred Barry: I regret the loss of expertise of all the board members who have departed 
from the board.  They all gave dedicated service to the board.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I have now made four attempts.  I note to the committee that Mr. Barry 
effectively refused to answer a question on the loss of the expertise of the role - not the indi-
vidual - to the board.  He effectively refused to state it was a loss.  That is now public.

Mr. Fred Barry: That should be amended to say I declined to state whether it was or was 
not a loss.  As framed by the Deputy, it implies I stated it was not a loss.  I did not state that but 
simply refused to comment one way or the other.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Let us get this right.  It was not a confrontational question.  Trust me, 
I will have some such questions later and we are only starting.  Mr. Barry has been around the 
block before Oireachtas committees for years and I have dealt with him on many occasions.  I 
must acknowledge that he is good when he appears before committees and is clear and concise 
in his answers.  I accept that the role he took on was a poisoned chalice and I admire him for tak-
ing it on.  Nevertheless, there was a reason the chief procurement officer of Ireland was put on 
the board, for expertise.  The expertise of that role - I do not refer to the individual - is no longer 
there.  How Mr. Barry could appear before the committee and not state it was a loss is beyond 
me and does not give me any confidence.  It shakes my confidence, which had been improving.

Chairman: Has Mr. Barry anything further to add?

Mr. Fred Barry: No.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It is not helpful that guests appear before the committee and refuse to 
answer legitimate questions.  I take it as a refusal to answer.

Chairman: We do not have any power to compel guests to answer.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I accept that, but the public are watching.

I turn to the guaranteed maximum price, GMP.  I know what it is, Mr. Barry knows what it 
is, and the public are now becoming familiar with the term.  I listened to his responses to my 
colleagues earlier.  According to pages 26 to 28, inclusive, of the PwC report, the GMP will be 
based on the design team’s assertions with 95% cost certainty.  Is that correct?

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It is interesting that footnote 30 on page 28 states:

Stage 2C Design commenced in July 2016.  We note that as of the date of this report, the 
Stage 2C report has yet to be approved by NPHDB.  

Has it been approved since?
Mr. Phelim Devine: The stage 2C report has been approved by the NPHDB executive and 

board.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: When?

Mr. Phelim Devine: Just after the GMP was agreed.
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Deputy  Alan Kelly: On what date?

Mr. Phelim Devine: I do not have the date to hand.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: In which month?

Mr. Phelim Devine: It was probably March-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It could not be March.

Mr. Phelim Devine: If the Deputy will let me-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: To clarify, in order that we do not get our wires crossed, the PwC 
report was published in April.  How could the stage 2C design have been approved in March?

Mr. Phelim Devine: I will revert to the Deputy with the exact date-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It does not fill me with confidence that Mr. Devine does not know the 
date.  It is an important matter.

Mr. Phelim Devine: If the Deputy will let me finish, the stage 2C report cannot be sanc-
tioned or signed off until such time as the GMP is in place.  A certain number of deliverables 
will be required to close out after the GMP has been agreed.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Is the GMP not in place?

Mr. Phelim Devine: It is in place but other deliverables, included in the stage 2C report, 
have to be closed out before the board will sign off on it.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: This is interesting.  A GMP is in place but, according to what Mr. 
Devine stated, the stage 2C report cannot be signed off because it will influence the GMP.

Mr. Phelim Devine: No.  For clarity-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I am just trying to tease out what Mr. Devine is saying.  He is confus-
ing people.

Mr. Fred Barry: That is not what he said.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Let us find out.  He does not know the date.

Mr. Phelim Devine: For clarification, nothing in the stage 2C report that was agreed by the 
board - I will revert to the Deputy with an exact date - in March or April-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: We cannot-----

Mr. Phelim Devine: I am sorry, but let me finish.  Nothing in that report impacted on what 
was agreed in the GMP.  It is a formal exercise in any public project to close out a particular 
stage of design.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: We have design A and design B for the two stages.  It is agreed that 
95% would have to be agreed for the GMP to be signed off on.  Is that correct?  It is in the docu-
ment.  We might get the specific date in April - I am sorry, as I do not have it - on which this 
report was done.  It was the month of April in any event.
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Mr. Phelim Devine: Yes.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: The stage 2C design report had not been approved by the board at that 
stage.  Is that correct?

Mr. Phelim Devine: That is correct as far as I can recall.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That report could not have been done in March or before April.

Chairman: The report’s publication was on 5 April.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It could not have been before 5 April.

Mr. Phelim Devine: I will revert with the exact date on which the stage 2C report was 
signed off by the board.  For clarity, stages 2C and 3 were combined because of the special 
nature of the two-stage process.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I understand that.  What is bugging me is that, when it came to the ac-
tual design, we still had not got to a percentage.  Let me make this more Bauhaus and simple.  In 
terms of the actual design process, what percentage of certainty had we as regards the design of 
the children’s hospital when Mr. Barry took over a good few months back compared with now?

Mr. Fred Barry: There might be some confusion.  I can help with it.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I do not think there is, but go on.

Mr. Fred Barry: Okay.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It might be on Mr. Barry’s part.

Mr. Fred Barry: Perhaps.  The design is done.  What is being issued now, and what has 
been issued in recent months, by the design team are the construction drawings.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That is right.

Mr. Fred Barry: They follow the completion of the design.  The thrust of the Deputy’s 
questioning is that the design might have been incomplete when the GMP was agreed.  It was 
not incomplete, but the issued for construction, IFC, documentation has to follow, as it always 
must in these projects.  That is the normal design and construction process.

Chairman: The Deputy can ask one more question.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: May I contribute a second time?

Chairman: Yes.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: There are two parts to what Mr. Barry just said.  First, while I accept 
what he says in respect of the first part, I want to be 100% clear that the design for stage 1 or 
stage A, as we will call it for the sake of clarity, has not changed at all since Mr. Barry took up 
his position.  The second part is the second phase of the design that Mr. Barry has outlined so 
eloquently.  Between his taking up office - I should say “role”, as “office” is not the best term 
- and today, what percentage of the design has been put in place?  I am hearing stories from 
people who are still experiencing serious issues on site as regards implementing the current 
construction design.
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Mr. Fred Barry: Who?

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Mr. Barry does not get to ask the questions.  I do.

Mr. Fred Barry: I am just wondering what credibility should be applied to rumours.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I know, but I am an elected Deputy and people talk to people who are 
Deputies.  That is protected by the State, so it is inappropriate for Mr. Barry to even put a ques-
tion like that to me.  He might go ahead.

Mr. Fred Barry: If I am to respond to rumours, I would like to have some idea of what is 
behind them.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: They are not rumours.  I do not deal in rumours.  I gather information.  
That is my role in life - I am a Deputy.

Chairman: Mr. Barry might answer the question if he can.

Mr. Fred Barry: Certainly.  Mr. Devine might correct me if necessary, but as far as I un-
derstand it, the design to be provided by the design team is fully complete.  Some of the design 
is in the hands of the contractor.  The IFC drawings, which are being done by the design team 
during the course of this year and into early next year, are well advanced.  They are at least six 
months in front of the construction effort, and maybe more.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I will make my final point on this matter, but I will speak again be-
cause I have a range of other topics to cover.  According to PricewaterhouseCoopers, the uplift 
in design costs is 68%.  Is that not correct?

Mr. Fred Barry: We have the figures here.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Yes.  It is €27 million.  Has that percentage changed since Mr. Barry 
took on his role?  Is there an additional amount over the €27 million?  Regarding the design 
stages, Mr. Barry stated that the design was 100% complete and six months ahead.  I understand 
the design’s phases and how they fall into one another, having read all of the reports.  In fair-
ness, they are graphed out well in the report.  Has there been any change of significance that has 
concerned Mr. Barry since he took this role?

My first question was on the 68%, or €27 million, uplift in design costs according to the 
April report.  Mr. Devine will revert to us with the sign-off times.  My second question was on 
whether there had been changes in the construction design that concerned Mr. Barry in any way, 
shape or form.

Mr. Phelim Devine: I can confirm that there have been no significant changes in the design 
that are included in the GMP.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That was not one of my questions.  I asked Mr. Barry whether he had 
any concern about the design.  I also asked for the figure of the increase in design costs.

Mr. Fred Barry: I will revert to the Deputy regarding the exact position of the design costs.  
We will write to the committee with that information.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Barry.

Mr. Fred Barry: I am not aware of design changes.  I have confirmation from people who 
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are directly in charge that there are no changes.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Has Mr. Devine concerns about design changes?

Mr. Phelim Devine: No.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I will ask further questions next time.

Chairman: Of course.  I call Deputy Durkan.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I might also speak a couple of times because-----

Chairman: We have until 1.45 p.m.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: -----I have been entertained by the meeting so far and previ-
ous meetings.

As a prelude, I will mention something that I have said previously.  I am glad to see the 
Committee of Public Accounts monitoring the programme, but it has no function whatsoever 
in determining what money should be spent on any project until after it has been spent.  Its job 
is to review value for money in almost every area.  To do otherwise would be to interfere in 
Government policy, which no committee has the right to do.  In particular, the Committee of 
Public Accounts is statutorily excluded from doing so.  I say this as a reminder.  I do not wish 
to go into some of the things that have happened at the Committee of Public Accounts down the 
years, nor would it be appropriate to do so, but I did not approve of them.  Nor would anyone.

The purpose of the exercise is to build a modern hospital quickly in a way that gives good 
value for money, sticks to its contracts insofar as that is possible and, in the event of something 
inexplicable happening, having it explained.  It may just appear to be inexplicable, but there is 
usually a reason for everything.

Someone approached me before the project even started about a potential reduction in the 
cost.  This is a new topic, Chairman, given that everyone has been concentrating on increases.  
This committee is taken up with them, as are others.  There was a suggestion that, if a road was 
closed or opened, contractors could use an internal road more effectively.  I brought that to the 
attention of those involved at the very beginning.  I am sure that the witnesses are aware of it.  I 
cannot recall the details off-hand, but it would have entailed the closing of a road for some time 
until a part of the project had been concluded, thereby eliminating the need to criss-cross public 
traffic.  I will leave that matter with the witnesses.

I am impressed with the work to date.  It is great to see a major engineering project of this 
nature.  It is long sought after and is very necessary for the provision of health services in the 
country.  We hope that it works well and that there is not an ongoing inquiry.  Lengthy tribunals 
do not serve us well in terms of service provision and they also do not encourage tenders for 
State projects.  This is a State project in respect of which there are strict rules which must be 
observed.  It should be borne in mind that continually dragging down the project is not condu-
cive to good value for money or the delivery of the project.

It was mentioned that some elements of the project are not progressing as fast as people 
would have liked.  Have the witnesses been able to identify the areas that are causing the delay 
and worked out the extent to which they could contribute to a reduction or increase in the cost 
of the project?
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Mr. Fred Barry: The areas that are not as advanced as we would like are around the con-
crete to frame, the columns and so on.  The Deputy will note from the photographs that a huge 
amount of work has been done but we would like if more had been done at this stage.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Why has the work not been completed to the extent antici-
pated?

Mr. Fred Barry: The guaranteed maximum price arrangement with the contractor comes 
with a programme of work schedule.  Some of the concrete works are not as far advanced as 
they should be in accordance with that schedule.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Are the slabs being manufactured on-site or off-site?

Mr. Fred Barry: On-site and off-site.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Some are being poured on site.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes and some are prefabricated.  I have some sympathy for our main 
contractor because as there is a huge amount of building work going on around the country 
resources are tight.  While we are pressing the contractor to try to recover schedule resources 
in that area are very tight.  I would expect, and I am not speaking for the contractor, that he is 
somewhat constrained by the resources available.  This is the area where as per the contractual 
programme the works should be even more advanced than they are at the moment.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Has the delay in this area impacted on other aspects of the 
development?

Mr. Fred Barry: If the frameworks and slab works are continually delayed the work of the 
mechanical, electrical and fit-out subcontractors will be delayed.  As I stated, in terms of time-
line there are three years remaining.  Large, capable, competent contractors can do so much in 
three years.  I am not concerned.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Mr. Barry believes they can recover schedule.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes, if they can access resources.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Unlike my colleagues who are very conscious about costs, 
I am not paranoid about them because I believe we have to deliver.  To deliver, we presume a 
level of expenditure.  I previously asked for the original costing and I was told that no actual 
costing had been undertaken and no engineering or quantity surveyors reports had been se-
cured, which are requirements in terms of estimating a cost.  Is Mr. Barry satisfied that sufficient 
work has been done in terms of forensically examining all elements of the project with a view 
to it remaining in line with cost?

Mr. Fred Barry: The Deputy is probably tired of hearing it but there are a number of costs 
risks that are outside of our guarantee maximum price and outside of our control.  I appreciate 
that some people are of the view that we should have a better feel for the level of inflation into 
the future in regard to the costs that outside of our control.  If the inflation is higher in a few 
years’ time, then the cost will be higher.  This will be dealt with by the Government by way of 
separate budget or additional budget.  I am not sure what the mechanics of that will be.

The Deputy spoke about reducing costs.  We have taken the measures we can to reduce costs 
and balance other pressures on increasing costs.  In my view, there is no chance of the project 
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being done for less than is currently budgeted.  The pressures on this project are all upwards.  
There is no doubt about that.  We have done well during this year in addressing the claims that 
have come in.  The team has done well in managing the project but we will remain under pres-
sure for the next few years.  It is a tough, difficult project and I am not suggesting that there will 
not be continuing problems and challenges.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: My colleague, Deputy Donnelly, suggested that if he was 
on Mr. Barry’s side of the room things would be different.  I am not so sure.  Maybe he would 
close down the project such that the hospital would not be built.  I am not putting words into his 
mouth.  One should be always careful not to do that.

Chairman: Deputy Durkan is doing his best.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: The degree to which Deputy Donnelly is preoccupied with 
the project would indicate to me that if he were on the other side of the table there would be an 
exclusion of certain elements of the facility.  Obviously, the foundation would have to be put 
in place but some elements of the facility would be excluded.  With that in mind, I issue the 
following warning.  In a different political era I was involved in the development of a hospital 
which doubled in cost over a two year timeframe.  There was a different Administration in office 
at the time and matters were handled differently then.  Suffice to say, I believe that the project 
which the board has been tasked with delivering is major in terms of addressing the deficiencies 
in the fabric of our health services.  I wish the board well and I hope it goes well.  I hope that 
the project team do not get disheartened by the amount of negativity surrounding the project 
and the level of ridicule poked at it.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I congratulate Mr. Gunning on his appointment and I wish him 
the best of luck.  I thank the project team for delivering to date.  The hospital cannot come quick 
enough.  I attended the accident and emergency department at Crumlin hospital last Sunday 
with a child.  The lack of facilities is shocking.  Deputy Donnelly spoke about the rotavirus and 
RSV in young children.  To my mind, it is wholly unacceptable that vomiting babies, breast-
feeding mothers and children with head injuries, broken arms and so on have to wait together 
in one room for treatment.  Following on from Deputy Donnelly’s question regarding the pull 
between elective and non-elective surgery, in terms of air conditioning what facilities are there 
in the admissions department of the new hospital that will mitigate the transmission of airborne 
viruses at the point of entry?

Dr. Emma Curtis: In terms of design of the emergency department, there is a common 
waiting area and a triage office located directly off it.  There are many more triage rooms that 
are currently in place.  Patients are triaged through the waiting area and directed to various 
clinic rooms.  There are 56 clinic examination rooms, which is a huge increase in terms of what 
we have now in the emergency department at Crumlin hospital.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: There will be a continuous flow through of patients.

Dr. Emma Curtis: Yes.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: In other words, a patient does not revert to the waiting room.

Dr. Emma Curtis: That Deputy is correct.  A patient will come into the waiting area, be tri-
aged and placed in the appropriate clinic.  A patient suffering trauma would be sent directly to 
x-ray.  There is a separate flow for major trauma and major illness and resuscitation rooms that 
are not used for general activity.  This would be an operational division rather than a physical 
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division.  As the Deputy is aware, the CHI at Connolly Hospital and at Tallaght Hospital are 
urgent care centres.  The likelihood is that there would be an operational differentiation in what 
is the large department in the new children’s hospital whereby there will be a streaming of chil-
dren who are of an urgent care triage-type category and then children who have more significant 
illnesses or injuries.  Operationally, one will get a separation of children.  There is the provision 
of both standard isolation rooms where there is a concern that somebody has something signifi-
cant but also then a more sophisticated isolation room if there is a concern that somebody has a 
very serious infectious disease.  The design has been set up so that there is rapid flow through 
so that people are dealt with quickly, the waiting times are short and people are directed to the 
appropriate clinical assessment room.  There is a separate stream for resuscitation and there is 
also provision for highly infectious diseases.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: In terms of the roles of Connolly Hospital and Tallaght Hospital, 
I was struck when I was picking up the leaflet when I was trying to get out of Crumlin that the 
unit in Connolly Hospital closes at the weekends so there was no alternative option.  For the 
cohort of people who arrive in and they are not sure how sick their child is, which Dr. Curtis will 
be aware is commonly the case, is she saying there will be an equivalent to the service provided 
by Connolly Hospital and Tallaght Hospital there for a child with a small cut, for example?

Dr. Emma Curtis: That is right.  They will operate an urgent care-type service and then an 
emergency department-type service.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I do not want to stray too much into the maternity hospital, but in 
terms of the plant and the capacity of the parent site, is there existing capacity in the infrastruc-
ture to run the maternity hospital?  Perhaps this is Mr. Gunning’s area.  For want of a better way 
of putting it, is there capacity to plug the maternity hospital into the existing plant or will we 
have to upgrade the plant and the capacity of the system to keep the maternity hospital going?  
I do not wish to simplify Mr. Gunning’s job or perhaps it is Mr. Devine’s job.

Mr. Phelim Devine: I might pick that up.  There are some shared services allowed for in the 
children’s hospital to allow the maternity hospital to be plugged in.  That is to do with electrical 
generation and also boiler plant.  Fundamentally, the maternity hospital is a separate building 
which will be linked by a corridor.  It will have its own mechanical and electrical, M&E, plant 
associated with it, but there are some shared services that we have catered for.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I think Mr. Barry referred to the building energy rating, BER.  
Was it always the case that we were looking for this rating or did the application happen during 
the design or post the design stage?  My concern is about the cost.  While I am in favour of it, 
and think it is positive to get a 60% to 70% reduction in current output, which is to be welcomed 
in terms of climate and costs, but is this a new thing or was it always built into the project?

Mr. Phelim Devine: It was always part of the brief set back in 2014 for both the BREEAM 
excellent targeted rating and the E3 rating, which is the statutory requirement.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Following on from Deputy Durkan’s questions about the slowing 
of the project in terms of construction costs and concrete costs, prefabricated pieces are coming 
in and there is also pouring on site into shuttering in the normal way.  Is it as simple as supply 
and demand or have there been any other identifiable or quantifiable overruns on concrete?

Mr. Fred Barry: The costs of any difficulties are borne by the contractor.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I understand that.
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Mr. Fred Barry: The contractor is the one who has the detailed information on where it 
stands vis-à-vis its subcontractors.  What I see on our site is what is what I see on various other 
sites around town as well, that there are resource constraints in the industry at the moment and 
this is one area and there will be others.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Surely the children’s hospital is buying more concrete than any-
one else right now and more prefabricated units, so it must have the upper hand in terms of buy-
ing power.  I am not suggesting that someone who wants just a load of concrete should not get 
it, but surely the company constructing a building such as the children’s hospital that requires so 
much concrete is in a stronger position than someone digging a hole out the back of the house 
and looking to fill it?

Mr. Fred Barry: Indeed.  I would not like to overstate the difficulties.  Deputy O’Connell 
will have seen in the photographs the progress that has been made-----

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I can see how much concrete has been used.

Mr. Fred Barry: -----and the amount of concrete has been poured.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: So we are getting our fill of concrete.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes, we are getting our share.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I think Deputy O’Reilly referred to claims when I was mo-
mentarily absent, additional claims on top of the guaranteed maximum price, GMP, have been 
submitted by the contractor, which is fairly normal.  Did Mr. Barry say that more than 50% of 
those claims to date have been paid?

Mr. Fred Barry: No, they have been determined.  The process is that the claims are submit-
ted.  There is some toing and froing-----

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: They say they want €1,000 for that window and the board says 
it will give €800 and the quantity surveyor, QS, says-----

Mr. Fred Barry: The contractor prepares his substantiation.  It goes to the employer’s rep-
resentative, ER, and he or she determines the value of the claims.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Is the total cost of just about 50% of those claims submitted 
under €1 million?

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes, as determined by the ER.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: In terms of prioritising or triaging the claims, is it the case that 
the little ones are dealt with first or is it just pot luck?

Mr. Fred Barry: Essentially, we deal with them as they come in.  Because of the time cycle, 
things have to be done within certain time periods and that means they are dealt with pretty 
much in the order that they arise.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Going back to the concrete again, if one cannot build a concrete 
frame and bring in the beams and shuttering, one cannot put in the windows or heating system.  
My question is on the sequencing of works on site.  Let us say if the contractor does not get the 
beams and the concrete in in the right period of time, for whatever reason, perhaps the wrong 
beams or the wrong type of concrete were ordered - that is clearly its problem - but who is re-
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sponsible for the knock-on effect and the effect on other people’s time?  Whose problem is it if, 
let us say, there is a delay in getting the M&E guys in because the frame is not built?  Is there a 
time cost, for example, if a contractor who was booked to come in has to be cancelled?

Mr. Fred Barry: Generally speaking, yes, that is the builder’s problem.  An exception 
would be if we did something on our side that delayed the contractor, then the cost would fall to 
us.  The contractor bears the risk for delays arising because of resource issues or because there 
is so much to be done, as part of the GMP.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Mr. Barry referenced that the pressures are all upwards, which 
is reflective of what is going on in the real world.  If hypothetically, psychic Steve was with us 
today, in terms of inflation, if we had a recession, technically, the costs could go down.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Some people have such gifts, but it would be great to predict 
inflation.

Mr. Fred Barry: It would.  If I could just say about the inflation costs, if the construction 
inflation on the hospital is high, it is a cost and it is a problem, but the reason the construction 
inflation is high, if that is what happens, is become the economy is growing so strongly.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I understand.  Yes.

Mr. Fred Barry: If we run into a recession then construction inflation rates will come 
down, but the question is whether that is something we want.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: It is unlikely.  The point I am making is that it is impossible to 
quantify right now where construction inflation will be.

Mr. Fred Barry: I can certainly, despite encouragement, I cannot tell Deputy O’Connell 
what it will be.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: No, I do not think anyone can.  I am just making sure that there 
is nobody in here who knows the answer.  We cannot know.  The PwC report indicated it would 
be between 3% and 5%.  We discussed that.

Mr. Fred Barry: PwC covered a range from 4% to 14%.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Okay.  I have one other question.  It struck me the other night in 
Crumlin that everybody had new name tags with “CHI” on them.  I am probably being petty but 
I get concerned when branding is a priority.  Who is responsible for rolling that out?  Everybody 
had new CHI tags.  I think back to how difficult it was to implement a pay system, PPARS, in 
the past yet somehow the hospital has managed to get the name tags out first, which is great, and 
the leaflets were there telling me the urgent care centre was closed, which was great as well.  I 
am concerned if the priority is to have a swipe card with the CHI logo on it.  Was a marketing 
company involved in that or is it just that that box was ticked-----

Dr. Emma Curtis: This ties in with something the Deputy may be aware of.  There was a 
doctor in the UK who died of cancer, and one of her observations as a patient was that hospital 
staff did not introduce themselves.  This gave rise to the #hellomynameis campaign, whereby 
every clinician meeting a patient says “hello, my name is” and his or her name.  This tied in with 
the formation of CHI and the realisation that we should all have name badges that read “hello, 
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my name is” and our names.  This is to encourage staff to introduce themselves to patients.  It 
is not marketing; it ties in with the commitment to communicate better with patients and to 
explain who we are when we meet them.  It is timely.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I am all for that process, but it just struck me that everyone’s tag 
had been changed.  It is the most efficient thing I have seen recently.

Chairman: Mr. Barry said earlier in his evidence that he is recruiting some members to the 
board.  Is that right?  There are some vacancies on the board.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes, the Minister is recruiting.

Chairman: There are some vacancies there.

Mr. Fred Barry: There are vacancies on the board.

Chairman: Certain skill sets are required.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.  The vacancies have been advertised by State Boards, which is the 
wing of the Public Appointments Service that deals with appointments to State boards.  The 
applications are in and the date is up.  There will be a short-listing process within the coming 
weeks and from that the recommendations will go the Minister.

Chairman: Do some of the skill sets required relate to procurement?

Mr. Fred Barry: The skill sets we have sought include commercial and business experi-
ence.

Chairman: There is sufficient procurement expertise on the board.

Mr. Fred Barry: We have procurement expertise both on the board and within the organisa-
tion.  In that regard the procurement phase of the hospital is really behind us.  Good, bad or in-
different, the main building works have been procured.  We do have to procure equipment, and 
there is a lot of it, but we are working on that very closely with the HSE, which is of course our 
expert in the procurement of hospital equipment.  I am therefore quite happy that, between our 
internal resources and the support we are getting from the health system, we have the expertise 
to deal with the equipment procurement, which is the main procurement left to us.

Chairman: What skill sets are absent from the board at present?

Mr. Fred Barry: Rather than saying they are absent, I would say we would like more of 
them.  We would like more on the accountancy side for our audit activities, we would like ICT 
expertise and we are looking for general commercial, big-business experience.  It is that sort of 
thing we are looking for to reinforce what we have.

Chairman: There are a number of recommendations in the PwC report on the processing or 
assessing of claims.  Recommendation No. 2, for instance, states:

Comprehensive plans should be developed to mitigate the residual risks identified.  Once 
developed they should be subject to a rigorous peer review to “stress test” their robustness 
and comprehensiveness.

Is that peer review external or internal?
Mr. Fred Barry: We have got external support on the claims, which has been very helpful 
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in ensuring that we are properly structured internally and that our information management 
systems, which are so important, are in place and robust and will allow us, where we have a 
defence to the claims, to present that defence in a timely and fully evidenced manner.  Claims 
will come in where the contractor is entitled to be paid.  I have no doubt about that.  Some is-
sues will arise.  We are not suggesting in any of this that the contractor should not get what he is 
entitled to but our concern is to ensure that the State does not pay for anything that has already 
been paid for within the guaranteed maximum price.

Chairman: When a claim comes in is it reviewed and assessed externally to the board or 
internally?

Mr. Fred Barry: Most claims are reviewed internally by the employer representative team.  
There is an employer representative.  This is an individual but she has a team of people with 
her.  They are the ones who do the initial review.  On our side we are copied on all this and we 
give our input on any of the issues.  We take a very strong view, naturally enough, and, where 
necessary and appropriate, bring in external support on that.

Chairman: If there is a substantial dispute.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.  It might be legal, it might concern programming, it might be techni-
cal - whatever we need.

Chairman: The site is quite confined.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes, it is.

Chairman: Are there safety issues on the site over and above what might be expected?

Mr. Fred Barry: I am not sure they are over and above what might be expected.  Managing 
safety is such a tough job on a congested and very big site.  We are very committed to and very 
focused on helping support the safety effort.  I am absolutely certain that our main contractor 
is committed to safe management.  There is no divide between us and the contractors on these 
issues.  We are all trying to do the right thing.  It is a very difficult task.  There will be times 
when we see things we do not like.  We will communicate them to the contractor and we expect 
the contractor to be responsive.  If the contractor is not responsive at a low level, we elevate the 
matter to a senior level.  We elevate safety issues to the most senior level.  We are all working 
together on this but we think claims will be a problem.  Maintaining a safe site when there will 
be so many people working on it over the coming years requires non-stop vigilance, support 
and attention from everyone on our team and on the contractor’s team, but we are all dedicated 
to that.

Chairman: Are the delays in construction, as Mr. Barry outlined, related to the confined 
nature of the site?

Mr. Fred Barry: It certainly does not help.  The city is full of confined sites, so it is not that 
this site is the only confined site in the city.  With the volume of traffic, however, the logistics 
of the site are particularly difficult, and I am sure that that is a factor.

Chairman: Are there difficulties in getting access to the site for construction workers and 
construction equipment?

Mr. Fred Barry: Undoubtedly.
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Chairman: Does that contribute to the delays as well?

Mr. Fred Barry: It certainly makes it harder.  As I said, what has happened thus far, as far 
as delay is concerned, is within the purview of the main contractor.  I am not really speaking for 
it but just making an observation, as anyone here might.  The nature of the site certainly does 
not help.  We have the resources stretched all over the city and even the country.  We have a 
very confined site.  I think we all know that access to the site from the outside is very difficult 
and that it is a busy area.

Chairman: How many workers are working on the site?  How many are directly employed 
by the contractor and how many are subcontracted?

Mr. Fred Barry: The contractor has approximately 800 and rising on site.  Then there are 
people from the employer representative team and design team support who are based on the 
site and who answer day-to-day queries.

Mr. David Gunning: Just short of 1,000 people are on the site.

Chairman: I have a further question, perhaps for Dr. Curtis.  The Connolly site is now open 
from Monday to Friday, nine to five.

Dr. Emma Curtis: That is correct.

Chairman: The intention was, I think, 9 a.m. until midnight, seven days a week.  The dif-
ficulty was in recruitment of staff, I understand.

Dr. Emma Curtis: That is correct.

Chairman: What is the recruitment situation now?

Dr. Emma Curtis: In Connolly, it is working really well.  I do a clinic there once a month - 
many of us do.  There is a cohort of people who do a lot more clinics there.  The response from 
the patients I meet is really positive.  Almost 1,400 patients have been seen in outpatients and 
almost 1,900 have been through the urgent care centre.  I was talking to the clinical director yes-
terday.  Fifty-nine patients were seen yesterday between 10 a.m., when they open, and 5 p.m., 
when they stop taking patients.  Staff are there until about 8 p.m. or 9 p.m. to finish that care or 
arrange transfers.  The triage categories attending are appropriate, so people seem to understand 
the nature of the urgent care centres.  All in all, the transfer rates for admission or further care 
in the three hospitals are at approximately 4% to 5%, which is very appropriate.

Recruitment of emergency and radiology consultants is required in order to open seven days 
a week and to extend the opening hours.  That is still ongoing.  Recruitment in that area has 
continued to be difficult.  Until the appropriate staff are in place, the opening hours cannot be 
extended but the intention and the desire is to extend them.

Chairman: The committee has been doing substantial work on workforce planning, recruit-
ment and retention of staff.  If a satellite centre cannot be staffed, how will the hospital itself be 
staffed when it is commissioned?  This committee can see significant difficulties in recruiting 
consultants.  Dr. Curtis mentioned two specialties.  It is a failure of the process that the centre 
cannot open from 9 a.m. to midnight, seven days a week, as planned.  That is surely a significant 
disappointment.

Dr. Emma Curtis: It is a considerable disappointment.  It is a CHI responsibility.  We are 
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here on behalf of the NPHDB but I am a clinician in one of the hospitals and work closely with 
CHI.  We have to acknowledge that there were a number of successful areas of recruitment in 
moving towards providing the services we are providing.  There are particular areas of difficulty 
in recruitment, which have been discussed.  On the ground, it is considered that the inequity 
in starting salaries for consultants compared to their colleagues who are doing the same job is 
a significant deterrent to people who are applying for consultant posts.  There are a number of 
issues regarding consultant recruitment across the board in the country.  There are areas where 
it has been successful and we have been able to progress to delivering a significant service in 
Connolly.  It is an area that will need continued attention.  With the opening of CHI at Tallaght 
and the opening of the major hospital, having the right staff in place would be essential.

Chairman: I have one last question on integration.  I understand that if blood is taken from 
children in Connolly, it is not processed in Connolly but has to be taxied to another children’s 
hospital.  Is that correct?

Dr. Emma Curtis: There is some point of care testing so some analysis can be done in there 
at the time.  At present, the arrangement is that blood is transferred to the Temple Street labora-
tory for analysis.

Chairman: Why can it not be analysed in Blanchardstown, in Connolly?

Dr. Emma Curtis: I am not party to that.  That is a CHI operational matter.  It was de-
termined that this is the current arrangement.  I understand it is working effectively.  There is 
access to blood results online.  Those results are available immediately once the bloods are 
processed.

Chairman: I thank Dr. Curtis.  We will have a quick-fire second round.  I ask members to 
confine themselves to five minutes for questions and answers.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: We will do our very best.  This is the first time that I have spo-
ken with Mr. Gunning and these are not the questions I would like to ask him at his first time 
before the committee, so I apologise.  I do not mean to question his suitability or skills at all 
and I hope that he does a phenomenal job.  I did not realise until today that he had never built a 
hospital or any other building which, in and of itself, might be fine, and I hope it is.  Has anyone 
on Mr. Gunning’s teams who reports directly to him ever built a major hospital before?

Mr. David Gunning: I can safely say that several people have been involved in major hos-
pitals.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: To be nitpicky, I do not mean involved because one can be 
involved as an electrician working on a hospital.  Has anyone actually led the build of a major 
hospital before on Mr. Gunning’s team?

Mr. David Gunning: We have at least three people on the executive team who have been in 
major projects on hospitals.  Mr. Phelim Devine is one and two other members of the executive 
have been involved.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I do not mean to cast any aspersions.  Mr. Gunning has not led 
such a project and that is fine.  Has anyone on his team led the building of a hospital before?

Mr. David Gunning: I am struggling with the chief executive or whatever-----

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Has anyone had Mr. Gunning’s role on another major hospital 
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project?

Mr. David Gunning: My role is somewhat unique on the public side but it would be very 
different on the private side.  I have looked at the skill set of those who we have and I think we 
have a strong set of skills.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I am not trying to be rude.  Has anyone who reports directly to 
Mr. Gunning led the building of a hospital before?

Mr. David Gunning: They have a good, solid set of skills.  I will come back with the pre-
cise details of what they have done if that would help.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Does Mr. Gunning know if any of them have ever led a hos-
pital project?

Mr. David Gunning: My understanding is that they have.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: They have led it, as in they have had Mr. Gunning’s job or the 
equivalent?

Mr. David Gunning: Not exactly my job, but a significant role in the hospital.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: A significant role in or led?

Mr. David Gunning: I will come back to Deputy Donnelly with the details.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: It is a very simple question.  I am not casting aspersions.  Has 
anyone ever led a hospital build?

Mr. David Gunning: I will come back to the Deputy about it.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Does Mr. Gunning know if they have?

Mr. David Gunning: I have an understanding but I want to make sure that I am not mis-
leading the committee in any sense.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Is it Mr. Gunning’s understanding that they have?

Mr. David Gunning: Yes.  I will come back with the details.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I hope many of them have.  I thank Mr. Gunning.  I would like 
to ask about private patients.  The Minister replied to a parliamentary question yesterday when 
I asked about taking private patients out of public hospitals.  He said that other countries with 
strong public hospital systems do not tolerate the inefficiencies and perverse incentives that 
arise from having a stream of private patients.  That is pretty unambiguous.  The last time the 
committee discussed this, we found out that dedicated private facilities were being designed 
into the public children’s hospital, which I think is perverse and should not happen.  Since then, 
has the board had any instruction, since this has been debated in the Dáil and in committee?  
I do not think the public really knew that while on the one hand the Government was saying 
that it would take private facilities out, it was, on the other hand, designing them as part of the 
children’s hospital and the maternity hospitals.  Has the board had any instruction from the 
Government to not design in the private facilities?

Mr. Fred Barry: We have had no instructions whatsoever on anything relating to design 
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from the Government, at least in recent times.  It remains at eight rooms out of the 6,000.

Dr. Emma Curtis: If I could comment on that, those rooms have been designed as generic 
consult-exam rooms and, without difficulty, can be assumed into the general outpatient capac-
ity and deliver service publicly.  From a construction and project viewpoint, it is a set of rooms 
that is no different to the other 122 public outpatient rooms.  They are exactly the same in the 
way they are designed and built.  Integration into the general outpatient service would be an 
operational matter.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Or a political matter.

Dr. Emma Curtis: From a design perspective, it is a set of rooms.

Chairman: Can we move on?

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I will ask the last few questions, if I can.

Chairman: We do not want to eat into Deputy Kelly’s time.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I do not want to do that.

(Interruptions).

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: We have talked about the future design of the maternity hospi-
tal.  Has anyone contacted the board about the design of the maternity hospital?

Mr. Phelim Devine: There has been no further engagement about the design of the mater-
nity hospital since we completed the stage 1 initial design, based on the planning application, 
back in 2015.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: My first question is a request for documentation to be supplied to the 
committee.  Can we have all the NPHDB board minutes, unredacted and up to date, sent to the 
committee?  On 3 April, the board met and the minutes state that a presentation was received 
by the finance and construction committee, from the design team, wherein it was reported that 
additional monetary risk had been identified on provisional funds.  Can we get a copy of that 
presentation and any other related documents?  If not, why not?  The third question is about the 
minutes regarding the procurement subcommittee from 29 April and the executive summary 
of the cost report overview.  Can we get that too?  That is my first question about three sets of 
documents, and I have two other questions.

Mr. Fred Barry: I think we put board minutes up on the website.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Are they the full, unredacted minutes of all subcommittees?

Mr. Fred Barry: Neither the Deputy nor anybody else is getting minutes that are not re-
dacted with regard to commercial and confidential issues.  It is not personal to the Deputy.  On 
commercial issues, where we have confidentiality issues, we do not put unredacted documents 
into the public domain.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I respect commerciality, but there is always a nervousness about the 
scale of redaction when it extends to non-commercial legal issues and to sensitive issues that 
may apply in other areas.  I have looked through all of the minutes and I can see a range of 
information is redacted way beyond what I would have expected.  Will Mr. Barry have a fresh 
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look at this, please, and supply them?

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: And the other two?

Mr. Fred Barry: I will have to go back and look at the documents but, again, I have a sus-
picion that if we are dealing with commercial matters and commercial risk negotiations, and 
so on, the subject matter will probably be redacted.  I will go back and personally review these 
documents and ensure that nothing has been redacted that has not been appropriately redacted.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Who chairs the finance and construction committee?

Mr. Fred Barry: Tim Boucher-Hayes.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: The presentation was received from the design team when it was 
reported that additional monetary risk had been identified on provisional funds.  Is Mr. Barry 
saying that presentation will not be in any way suppliable?

Mr. Fred Barry: I will look at the presentation and see what is in it.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: There is also the second document relating to the executive summary 
of cost report from the minutes on 29 April.

Regarding cost claims, Mr. Barry said earlier they amounted to €1 million, which is fine, 
and he said that accounted for approximately 50% of claims to date - he can correct me if I am 
wrong as I am just working from the notes I wrote down earlier.  While I am not an engineer, 
I presume the smaller claims are easier to kill off or to settle more quickly, and that would be 
common sense, so that leaves 50%.  Of those that have been settled, how much relates to Con-
nolly Hospital?

Mr. Fred Barry: I will have to come back to the Deputy on that.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I want to know the percentage of those that are settled that relate to 
Connolly and not to the main site at all.  Will Mr. Barry tabulate this and come back to us with 
the number of claims to date?  I understand he cannot give us the total cost of claims.  However, 
he can give us the volume that has been settled and then tell us which site they relate to.  Is that 
okay?  None of that is commercially sensitive, so it is all fine.

Mr. Fred Barry: We will take a look and we will give the Deputy what we can give him.

Mr. Fred Barry: There is nothing I said there that Mr. Barry cannot give me.  This is rea-
sonable.  I am asking which site the claims were settled and when.  I am not asking for who and 
all of that.  That will show us, as a committee, sitting here on 27 November 2019, where they 
have been settled and how much is to do with the main site.

Mr. Fred Barry: Sure.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: On the timelines, Mr. Barry said he expected the project to be pushed 
out, and that is not a big issue, given where we are at, to be fair to him.  He expects that the main 
contractor can pull it back.

Mr. Fred Barry: He can.  Whether he will or not-----
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Deputy  Alan Kelly: It is not “he”; it is a company.

Mr. Fred Barry: It is even “they” because there are a lot of big companies involved.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I agree with Mr. Barry.  I have a lot of sympathy for this argument.  On 
the construction side, trying to get people is a nightmare at the moment.

Mr. Fred Barry: There is the main contractor but the various subcontractors are going to be 
stretched as well.  We all know that Intel has got its new planning permission through, so this is 
just not a commentary about the stretch on the main contractor, BAM, as the other contractors 
are all going to be pressed.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I accept that.  In some cases, some of these people might have been 
misrepresented in the past, but that is just a generic issue and I am not getting into anyone or any 
company specifically.  Have any critical milestones been missed since Mr. Barry took up his 
position?  If so, has he documented them and told his board, or any of the four layers, including 
the Department and the Minister, in any way, shape or form?  Basically, since he took the role, 
have any milestones been missed and, if so, has he communicated them, when and where?

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.  There was a road through the centre of the site and a critical mile-
stone was to take that road out and replace it with the U-shaped road the Deputy will have seen 
in the picture earlier.  The taking out of that road was late, and we have communicated that to 
all concerned.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: All the way up the 17,000 layers in this project.

Mr. Fred Barry: Indeed.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I want to ask about fire safety and fire resistance in respect 
of the site in general, knowing that lagged pipes are a great conduit for fire when it wants to 
move long distances quickly.  Have adequate provisions been made in that regard?  Has the 
city fire safety officer given his or her approval, and how did he or she rate the project?  What 
is the position with the cladding?  We have seen a number of incidents, particularly in the UK, 
were cladding was not fire resistant and, in fact, was an accelerant.  To what degree have the 
witnesses learned from those experiences and put in place measures to address this?

Mr. Phelim Devine: There is an existing fire certificate in place for the building and the 
building is fully sprinklered and has a high level of fire safety, well in excess of part B of the 
current building control regulations but also well in excess of the HBN, which is a particular 
UK design standard for hospitals.  Related to that, we have an amending fire certificate in with 
the Dublin Fire Brigade at present.  We got our original fire certificate in 2017, before the GMP 
was finalised, and there are slight tweaks and amendments, which is normal in a project of this 
scale.  We are in the middle of a process with the Dublin Fire Brigade on that.

Regarding cladding, we are all aware of the tragic accident that happened in UK.  At that 
point in time, we took a full review of the cladding we have on the hospital, and we changed 
certain elements of the installation behind the cladding.  We anticipated there might be a change 
in regulations forthcoming, and while they have not happened as yet, we took measures to en-
sure that, when the building is built, we would have done a risk assessment in terms of what 
might change.  We do not have any cladding on the hospital like that in the UK. 

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: In the event of a fire starting in any particular part of the hos-
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pital, is Mr. Devine satisfied there is ready access for fire tenders and in regard to how to restrict 
or retard the fire as quickly as possible?  Many things can contribute to the acceleration of a 
fire, which bring it totally outside of normal control.  For example, is the cabling fire resistant?  
There is a series of issues on which I would like to have reassurance.

Mr. Phelim Devine: To clarify, the design at the hospital is well in the excess of current 
standards across all of those issues, such as cabling and access for the fire brigade, and we have 
dedicated fire fighting lists for fire brigade access - I think we have eight within the hospital.  
We are well in excess of current standards.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: With regard to what I should not call the out-of-control expenses 
because that gives the wrong view, but the expenses or claims that are outside of the immediate 
control of the board, what are they?  The witnesses mentioned they are managing the ones that 
are within their control.  I do not want the narrative to go out that there is some element that is 
out of control, which is not what is going on.

Mr. Fred Barry: I did not mean to convey the impression that a lot of things are out of 
control because we are doing our very best to ensure that is not the case.  The things I would 
see as being outside our control, and I do not want keep labouring this, include the question of 
inflation, legislative matters and regulatory changes.  If there are changes in medical practice 
that say we need to introduce a design change or an equipment change, we are going to be the 
recipients of that, and somebody else is going to decide whether money should be spent.  These 
things are outside of our control.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I wanted Mr. Barry to clarify that.

Mr. Fred Barry: On the day-to-day running of the job, the team here are doing an excellent 
job and are in control of what they are doing.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: In regard to the bloods in Connolly Hospital, what is the plan for 
the future in terms of all CHI’s bloods?  Will the bloods from this hospital be processed on-site 
in the new children’s hospital?  What is the long-term plan for Tallaght, Connolly and Temple 
Street hospitals in terms of lab work?  I understand it is probably okay to take a taxi but it is 
probably not equitable or handy for people.  I get that the results are online, but I do not think 
there is any substitute for having a lab in the same hospital that one can pop down to if one is 
in a panic for something.

Dr. Emma Curtis: As I said, this is more of an operational CHI issue, but my understand-
ing, as a clinician working in the hospital, is that the laboratory in Tallaght University Hospital 
currently processes children’s bloods because there is a paediatric unit within the hospital.  
There is a very significant and complex lab design within the main hospital on the St. James’s 
site, which will bring in all the generic and highly specialist national lab services that are cur-
rently in CHI Temple Street and Crumlin.  In terms of the provision within the main build, there 
is a very significant lab development within the children’s hospital on the site of St. James’s and 
almost everything will be done there apart from some very sophisticated tests that will always 
be international.  As I said, there is always the provision within point-of-care testing, which has 
become much more sophisticated than it would have been historically.  If a child were to come 
to an urgent care centre and bloods were needed immediately, the facility for that is available.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: There have been questions as to whether any of the witnesses 
have ever built a hospital.  There would be very little point in having somebody on the board 
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who built a hospital 50 years ago, because there has been such a change in the way we deliver 
healthcare.  I would like to make the point that it is fairly irrelevant whether someone has built 
a hospital, because the hospital being built here is unlike anything that has been built before 
in this jurisdiction.  Globally, it is to be the most advanced in the world, so I do not think the 
person exists who has done this before.  All we can hope is that with Mr. Gunning and the rest 
of the witnesses we can apply all their experiences and learnings and deliver the best hospital 
possible that will not go on fire and that will deal with children in the best possible way.

I will finish on the following point.  I was really uncomfortable with Crumlin hospital on 
Sunday night.  Unfortunately I have been a regular enough visitor over the last ten years and, as 
it turned out, I had the least sick child in the place, but it is just not acceptable.  This committee 
has to get the message out that it is unsustainable to have children in an accident and emergency 
department.  I was into my eighth hour by the time I gave up.  In terms of provision of health 
care, it is really not acceptable in a country like this to have that kind of scene.  As a Deputy, I 
was embarrassed to be there and I was afraid someone might recognise me.  I was trying to keep 
undercover.  I wish the witnesses good luck with the project and I hope they make up the time 
that has been lost and that we deliver in 2022.

Mr. Fred Barry: I thank Deputy O’Connell very much for that.  Everybody on this side 
of the table is motivated by the fact that this is a much-needed children’s hospital.  We would 
not put up with all the grief that goes with the job if we did not see that the prize at the end was 
improved and needed facilities for our children.

Chairman: I think Deputy O’Connell’s heart skipped a little beat when Mr. Barry men-
tioned that the first window had been put in the building.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I was going to annoy Mr. Barry about the percentage of windows 
but he had enough hassle this morning.

Chairman: This committee would be delighted to accept the witnesses’ invitation to visit.  
There were a number of visits earlier this year.  I would encourage another visit by the com-
mittee to look through that window and at other installations on the site.  We will take up Mr. 
Barry’s offer.  Thank you very much.

Mr. Fred Barry: Thank you very much.

Chairman: On behalf of the committee, I would like to thank Mr. Gunning, Mr. Barry, Mr. 
Devine and Dr. Curtis for their evidence this morning.  Undoubtedly, we will return to this issue 
for an update on the progress in a number of months.

The joint committee adjourned at 1.45 p.m. until 9 a.m. on Wednesday, 4 December 2019.


